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Monday, March 6, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Good morning, panel.  We continue to sit today on EB-2016-0152.  And Mr. Keizer, I understand there are some preliminary matters we need to deal with?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, there are.  The first preliminary matter is the -- with respect to the rate smoothing regulation.  It was our understanding it was published on March the 2nd, and it was posted on E-laws on the Internet yesterday.  So OPG will be in a position to file evidence in respect of that amended regulation on Wednesday.  And that's the expected -- we will file the evidence on Wednesday.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. KEIZER:  So that's the first preliminary matter.


The second preliminary matter is, in preparation for presentation of the settlement proposal, we identified a drafting error, and so as a result we had undertaken to correct the error, but in doing so we have to have all the consenting parties to the proposal sign off.  It doesn't substantively change it, but it makes it -- make sure that it's internally consistent, given it's going to live within the context, hopefully, within the context of some time to come.


So what we've done is, we think we've concluded on the correction that needs to be done.  We just have to have parties -- we've sent an e-mail asking parties to sign off on that correction, and hopefully we'll know that by lunchtime as to whether all the parties have done so.  If they have, then I think we'll be in a position to do the settlement presentation this afternoon.  If for some reason we haven't got everybody because of their own commitments or otherwise on the responding e-mail, then we would be able do it tomorrow following the testimony of Dr. Galloway.  But as I say, it's not a substantive issue, but it is a correction we think we need to make to make sure that it reads internally consistent and reflects that, and we will file, obviously, the amendment with the Board so you will have that in advance of any presentation.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  And you'll have copies for the Panel that --


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  -- you will hand up --


MR. KEIZER:  For sure.


MS. LONG:  -- because it will take us some time to get them through the filing system, so we like to --


MR. KEIZER:  We'll make sure we have copies to hand up.


MS. LONG:  -- review.  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. KEIZER:  And the last is just -- really just more in terms of undertakings that were filed.  We filed Undertaking 2.6, 3.3, and 3.5 over the weekend.


MS. LONG:  Yes, I saw those this morning, so you were busy.  Thank you very much.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Are there any other matters that we need to deal with, Mr. Richler, anything?


MR. RICHLER:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then I believe it's Mr. Mondrow.  You're going to commence this morning.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Thank --


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  First order of business, I think it's the practice to mark compendiums with exhibit numbers at the outset, and you should have a compendium before you this morning.  So if we could get a number.  I know it's a K number, but I've lost track of the --


MS. LONG:  Lost track of the days already.


MR. RICHLER:  Exhibit K5.1.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 1B, resumed

D. Reiner,

G. Rose,

L. Saagi; Previously Affirmed.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, gentlemen.  And I'll come back to the compendium and start with that in a minute.  But a couple of, I guess, preliminary questions, as it were, which are really deferrals, Mr. Reiner, from when you and I first had a chance to speak, I guess, on panel 1A.


So the first of those was a discussion, Mr. Reiner, that I was having with you about planning expenditures, and we looked at that chart in the evidence where you have got the bars stacked up over time, and they total $2.2 billion, those bars.  And you had some discussion with Mr. Rubenstein on these on Thursday, and then the Chair requested some information on planning expenditures related to the other units other than Unit 2.


But during our earlier discussion just on Unit 2, Mr. Reiner, you indicated that there were some additional planning costs not reflected on that chart that had been incurred since that chart, or that are still planned to be incurred with respect to planning for Unit 2.  And that discussion was all about -- I was after kind of an overall number for planning on Unit 2 in particular, and so Mr. Rose, he punted it to you.


I wonder if you have any more information that you can share about planning costs for Unit 2 not reflected in the $2.2 billion in the pre-filed evidence but either incurred or expected to be incurred?


MR. ROSE:  So there are planning costs for Unit 2 that would have occurred in 2016 leading up to breaker open.  So we obviously -- at December 31st we -- that was what we had filed already in our evidence.  There are continuing on costs, what we call ready to execute costs, that were included, such as completion of comprehensive work packages, finalization of the schedule that went into the Unit 2 estimate, the finalization of the Unit 2 estimate itself.  All those were done through the first half of 2016 leading up to breaker open in October of 2016.


MR. MONDROW:  And do you know what they totalled, roughly?


MR. SAAGI:  Morning.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning.


MR. SAAGI:  The costs I was looking at when I was reading through the transcript was on the unit definition, what we call unit definition type costs, and the costs that continue, as Mr. Rose was pointing out, were related to the R&FR for the tooling.  There were some tooling deliverables that extended into 2016, as well as some -- the manufacturing of the tools, as well as some material receipts.  So they part of the unit definition, so it kind of ties to the 2.2 definition phase.


In addition to that there are Unit 2 costs, like, specific Unit 2 costs that would relate to very specific Unit 2 planning deliverables, but I don't have that number as carry-around right now.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you have an order of magnitude?


MR. SAAGI:  No, I would be guessing at this point in time.  The 2016 expenditures were around $900 million in aggregate, but that includes execution activities, as well as definition phase and pre-execution type work, including ready-to-execute plans.


MR. MONDROW:  Let me ask you another question.  But for those costs already incurred up to breaker opening are there continuing Unit 2 planning costs?


MR. SAAGI:  There are Unit 2 planning costs in 2016.  In terms of continuing in -- there are definition phased, what we consider Unit D costs, or unit definition phase costs, that actually go even into 2017, and those are related to some of the tooling milestone payments related to the R&FR contract.


MR. MONDROW:  So this discussion arose in the context of my interest in establishing how much time and effort had gone into planning this DRP project in total and Unit 2 in particular.  So we have the 2.2 billion up to filing, and we know now, thank you very much, that there were additional costs.  You've explained the nature of those costs.


Would it be difficult to provide by way of undertaking a figure to add to the 2.2 if we were trying to get an overall planning cost related to Unit 2?  And if it's not difficult obviously I would ask you to do it.


MR. REINER:  Yeah, I think we can undertake to provide those costs.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MR. RICHLER:  J5.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  TO PROVIDE THE POST-FILING PLANNING COSTS RELATED TO UNIT 2 EITHER INCURRED OR FORECAST TO BE INCURRED.


MR. MONDROW:  And so that would be, please, the post-filing planning costs related to Unit 2 either incurred or forecast to be incurred, and if you need to caveat any of that, obviously I invite you to do that.  Thank you.


All right.  If we can turn to the compendium, gentlemen, which is now Exhibit K5.1, and start -- and the pagination you'll see after the cover's on the bottom of the compendium pages, so I'll try to refer to those page numbers just to keep us all oriented if I can remember.


And Mr. Reiner, you asserted in panel 1A that there were external experts whose evidence had been filed in this case and who endorsed or supported OPG's choice of a P90 contingency provision for the purposes of the DRP cost estimates, and this -- I asked for an undertaking to indicate which evidentiary excerpts you were relying on.  You were good enough to provide this Undertaking J2.4.


And Mr. Rose, you made a similar statement; that is, that there were external experts that validated the P90 choice in your discussions.  I believe it was with Mr. Rubenstein on Thursday, from my recollection.


And I simply want to ask you, in addition to the references that Mr. Reiner or OPG have now provided in this undertaking responses, are there other references in the evidence that you think support OPG's choice of the P90 contingency level for costing of this project?  Or is this it?  I just want to make sure I have them all.


MR. ROSE:  Subject to check, this really focuses on Dr. Galloway and the Schiff Hardin testimony.  There may be some statements within the Palisade testimony and elsewhere in the evidence that may speak to this, and may speak to the reasonableness of our P90 estimate.  But I would have to go and look further, dig further into that information.

From our point of view, though, we believe that these references here are pretty strong and solid on the selection for P90.

MR. MONDROW:  I guess the reason I asked this in panel 1A and return to you, Mr. Rose, is this is going to be a matter of some argument, certainly on AMPCO's part, and I was trying to establish the basis of your evidence.  I don't really want to be caught by surprise when I don't have it right. following the filing of our argument and OPG's reply, to reply.

So if there is anything else major are material that you're relying on, I would like to know that.  I won't ask for a separate undertaking.  But I'm going to assume, subject to your counsel's comments, that this undertaking response provides all the main excerpts and I would like OPG to proceed on that basis.

So if this needs updating, I invite you to do so at some point prior to argument.

MR. KEIZER:  I think how the evidence gets interpreted -- it's OPG's intention to rely on the entirety of the record it filed.  So as to whether there are either explicit or implicit endorsement of the P90, it shouldn't now have to go through and cull the evidence for all of that elements and present that in terms of its argument today -- which is what my friend is asking.  He is asking for us to somehow circumscribe the evidence that we have filed, and to therefore not be able to rely on something else because the witness is not able to recall every aspect of the evidence that's been filed.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, this was testimony initially from Mr. Reiner, and subsequently from Mr. Rose, who said we have external experts that validated our P90 assumption and choice.

And I asked Mr. Reiner, and I've now asked both of them, what evidence are you relying on that's before this panel that says those experts endorsed their choice, because I told Mr. Reiner, very frankly, that I didn't see it.

So we have an undertaking response, and I appreciate that.  I'm certainly not asking OPG to cull anything, or do anything of the sort.  What I'm asking is what evidence is OPG relying on in this case to validate its choice.

I'm assuming that OPG has now, in this undertaking response, put forward the material portions of the evidence that it's relying on.  And I don't want to be caught by surprise later with an incomplete undertaking response.  There was no objection to this at the time, and I don't want to be sandbagged later on.

They've both said this now.  So I'm simply re-establishing that this is the evidence they're relying on.  If there is something else material, I would like to know about that in advance.  That was the point of the undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  Let's be careful here.  If you're asking a question, let's make sure the question is precisely asked if you want to look for precision, because the undertaking relates to expert evidence.  You've indicated in your question what evidence we're relying on to determine the P90.

Obviously, there is a lot of work done before experts were engaged as to the nature of P90 and the choice that OPG made, and there is evidence in the case, beyond just what experts say, as to why OPG believes in the P90.

So I don't think we can now say here is Exhibit X, Y and Z as to why the P90 is appropriate, if that's what you're asking for.  I think that's a point of argument and we should be entitled to rely on all of the evidence that we filed, notwithstanding the question that you wish to ask and to try to focus it.

The undertaking has done its best to try to provide where in the expert evidence there is reference relating to the endorsement of P90.  If there is some other phrase or some other aspect that may be relied upon, I don't think we necessarily we should be excluded from relying on that evidence.

But I think that OPG has done its best to identify and respond to the undertaking, which is it's the evidence --where in the evidence is an expert that says P90 is an appropriate allocation, and I think OPG has attempted to do that appropriately.  But I don't think the question should be so broad as to what's the basis for the P90.

MR. MONDROW:  I think we're in agreement, Madam Chair.  I don't think there is anything you need to adjudicate.

I did ask initially for experts.  I thought I asked today for experts.  If I misspoke myself, I apologize.  The undertaking was given on the basis of experts.

I simply asked Mr. Rose is this it, and he started to waffle around a bit, and I don't mean that pejoratively.  But that led me to ask if there is something from external experts, other than what's reflected in here, I would like to know about it.

MS. LONG:  When you say external experts, I just want to be clear on the terminology here.  Are you asking with respect to the Schiff Hardin and Dr. Galloway, or are you asking for external sources as being more broad interpretation.

As I understand the undertaking, it's experts.  But are you expanding that?

MR. MONDROW:  Experts whose evidence was prefiled in support of the P90 calculation and choice.  So Schiff Hardin, Pegasus, and anyone else that Mr. Rose thinks filed -- any other external expert that filed evidence in this proceeding on behalf of OPG validating P90.

I think the interrogatory has been responded to and I'm content with Mr. Keizer's characterization.

MS. LONG:  I want to be clear from the panel's perspective.  Obviously, this is an area that we are very interested in.  So, Mr. Rose, if there are -- I'm not asking you to go through the whole record and look at exhibits and look at your own evidence, but if you're relying on external sources that support P90 that are material, the panel would at least want to make sure that we've reviewed that.  As you'll appreciate, the record is extensive and I want to make sure that we haven't missed anything either.

MR. KEIZER:  Our interpretation of expert would have been the expert that we have filed by way of, for example, Pegasus, and obviously Board Staff has filed evidence related to Schiff Hardin.

There are other external sources that discuss the P90, which includes Palisade, who was part of the Monte Carlo simulation.  There's Modus, there's other oversight parties that we have provided in evidence which are not necessarily being presented as expert witnesses, but they are reports generated by virtue of oversight or otherwise in this proceeding that may in themselves make commentary about the P90 which are there and available.

So if parties are now interpreting the undertaking to extend beyond those of, let's say, Schiff Hardin and Pegasus, but to any external source that's on the record, then obviously we would have to step back and revisit the undertaking.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm going to go back, Madam Chair, to the wording of the undertaking, which was purposeful.

I asked OPG to advise precisely where in the evidence there is an expert that says P90 is an appropriate allocation.  That's the undertaking that I thought was responded to.  I anticipated that when I asked Mr. Rose, who also talked about this on Thursday, I think it was, what evidence he is relying on, because he made a similar statement about external experts supporting the P90 allocation, he would say you've got it.

I heard him to caveat that response with, well, there may be something else.  If there is something else, from my perspective this undertaking response is incomplete and needs to be completed.  I'm going to leave it at that.

MR. KEIZER:  We'll have to step back and revisit the undertaking to ensure we've provided the Board what it needs.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Reiner, I also, when we were having our discussion in Panel 1A, asked you for an undertaking which has been provided -- that's at page 4 of Exhibit K5.1 -- and the undertaking was to provide a P level associated with the working schedule, and cost level associated with the working schedule, and you were kind enough to do that.

I want to make sure I understand this response.  If I start at line 18 of the response, OPG has provided the following explanation:

"Completion of Unit 2 on the working schedule of 35 months, i.e. a return to service in mid September 2019, would result in reduction of scheduled contingency.  OPG has approximated the reduction in the use of schedule contingency based on the different iterations between the P90 and the working schedule, and an appropriate average daily rate."

It's that last phrase I wonder if you can elucidate on.  What do you mean by an appropriate average daily rate, and how did you derive that?

MR. ROSE:  We used a .9 million per day run rate, what we call burn rate, based on the cost of going long.  So if the project went long, there are carrying costs such as interest, OPG PMT management team, et cetera, that would be carried.

So that burn rate is about approximately $900 million per day.

MR. MONDROW:  900 million dollars?

MR. ROSE:  Per day.

MR. MONDROW:  Or .9 million dollars?

MR. ROSE:  Sorry, 900,000 per day.

MR. MONDROW:  0.9 million, 900.

MR. ROSE:  So used to talking big numbers.  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  We're all desensitized now.  Thank you.  That's fine.  Thank you very much, Mr. Rose.

Okay.  This one is going to take a few minutes, so I'm going to start on page 5 of the compendium, please.  And I want to talk a little bit about the dollars associated with the move from a P90 to a P50 contingency level for DRP.  And we had some discussion about this in panel 1, and I know others have come back to this, and I'm going to try very hard not to tread on ground trodden by others, and I have read the transcripts, so I'm aware of those discussions.  And I just want to see if I can reconcile some of these numbers, because I was trying to do so and I couldn't, and I'm hoping you're going to be able to help.

So if we start with the undertaking response at page 5 of the compendium, which is J3.5, you've confirmed that the methodology originally set out in the response to CCC's Interrogatory No.18 is the best shorthand -- my phrase -- shorthand approximation for determining the impact on contingency of various -- adopting various P levels.  And so I want to start by looking at CCC 18, which we've reproduced starting at page 6 of the compendium.

Now, Part A of that response, CCC 18, page 6 of the compendium, refers to the level of contingency that would result from using a P50 confidence level, and you say it's 1.4 billion 2015 dollars, excluding interest and escalation.  And I assume that excluding interest and escalation -- and this is for the DRP as a whole -- means unadjusted 2015 dollars.  And I'm not very financially savvy, but this is going to be -- I want to make sure I'm clear about this, so that's unadjusted 2015 dollars.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.  In 2015 dollars.

MR. MONDROW:  In 2015 dollars.  Okay.

Now, if you could turn with me -- and we're going to come back to CCC 18, but if you could turn to page 8 of the compendium, we've reproduced the response to AMPCO's Interrogatory No.70, which poked around at some similar issues.

And if we look at the chart 1 under Part B, under the P50 line on that chart 1 we see the same $1.4 billion at the P50 level, and if we look down at the rest of chart 1, at the P90, which is actually reproduced on page 9 of the compendium, we see a contingency number -- this is the entire DRP -- of 1.7 billion, and that correspond to a total DRP cost of $12.8 billion.

So I'm assuming because of the 1.4 billion that we saw in this chart earlier for P50 that the 1.7 billion at P90 out of a total of 12.8 billion DRP cost, that's all exclusive of interest and escalation, so we're still talking about the 2015 dollars.  Is that assumption correct?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  It actually says in the header of that column "confidence level 2015 dollars".

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's go back to CCC 18, so again, I'm back at page 6 of the compendium, and I want to focus on that long explanation, and again, I don't mean that pejoratively, the comprehensive explanation provided in Part B for the Unit 2 contingency calculation at P50.  So we'll start with line 34.  It says:

"The total contingency for Unit 2 is 694.1 million, which includes interest and escalation."

And so that means that that's current dollars as of the time of filing of the referenced exhibit?  Is that what "includes interest and escalation" means?

MR. ROSE:  It's in essence dollars of the year and when those dollars are going to be spent, because it includes escalation.

MR. MONDROW:  Into the future?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And then CCC 18 provides a methodology, a kind of back-of-the-envelope methodology now confirmed by the undertaking we referred to a minute ago, by applying the 2015 dollar ratio between the DRP contingency at P50 and the DRP contingency at P90, because it uses the 4.8 billion for Unit 2 in 2020.  So let me read this so I don't confuse me or you, starting at line 35:

"This amount is included in the in service amount of 4.8 billion for Unit 2 in 2020."

So the in service amount would be an escalated amount as well, correct, Mr. Rose?

MR. ROSE:  Yes, the in service amount is full -- includes the full amount of escalation.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay:

"As noted in Part A, the amount of contingency for the four-unit refurbishment at the P50 confidence level is 1.4 billion."

Now, I thought the 1.4 billion was unescalated.  Is it?  It is, right?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So bear with me.  I'm going to just follow this through.

"The contingency amount for Unit 2 at the P50 confidence level is estimated by pro-rating the P50 and the P90 contingency estimates in the RQE and is therefore estimated to be $578 million."

Now, I'm going to come back to that number.  But then in parenthesis you put -- the ratio the you're applying is the 1.4 billion divided by 1.7 billion, both unescalated numbers, right?  As long as they're both either escalated or unescalated it should be the same ratio.

MR. ROSE:  Absolutely.  So the 694 is the base amount, and we're multiplying that, the unescalated P50 divided by the unescalated P90, to get the ratio.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the 694 is an escalated amount.

MR. ROSE:  The 694 includes escalation and interest, but we're multiplying that by a ratio of base cost of P50 amount over the P90 amount.

MR. MONDROW:  So the 694.1 million multiplied by that ratio, which works out to 82.4 percent as a ratio, if you do --


MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  -- fraction, yields 571.6 million.  That should be the P50 escalated contingency amount for Unit 2, right?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  So it's the 6 -- 6 -- in this case 694 less the 116 million.

MR. MONDROW:  We're going to get to that in a second.  But let's just stick with the -- okay.  So you take the 694.1, which is escalated, and you multiply that by the ratio.  You get 571.6 million.  That's also escalated.  That's a Unit 2 escalated contingency amount at P50, right?  571.6?  So this is where I'm struggling.  You said 578 million is the estimate, and I'm trying to reconcile those two numbers.  So what's the 578?  Is that 571.6 escalated somehow?

MR. ROSE:  I'm not certain of the -- there may be some decimals in the amounts here, but it's 1.4 divided by 1.7.  There may be decimals when we do the actual calculation times the 694 amount.  So your conclusion is that's 571?

MR. MONDROW:  571.6.  And that should be the escalated P50 contingency.

MR. ROSE:  So I'm assuming it's just -- there's some decimal places behind that.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, that's a lot of decimal places.  That's $7 million, isn't it?

MR. ROSE:  I can do a quick double-check of this math at the break and get back to you on that --


MR. MONDROW:  All right.

MR. ROSE:  -- but for the sake of this we'll assume that it's 571 at the purest number.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's fine for me, thank you.

Okay.  So then if we continue on.  And you referred to the 116 -- the 116 million.  So if you look starting at line 40 you see the estimated revised in service amount for Unit 2 in 2020 would be reduced by 116 million, which is the 694, which is escalated, minus the 578, to 4.693 million, and it seems to me if you accept my 571.6 million what that should be is 694 million minus 571.6 million.  Right?

MR. ROSE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And that should be a 122.5 million reduction in unescalated Unit 2 investment, rather than the 116?  So that's my math.  I think that 116 should be 122.5.  And all that is on an unescalated basis, I believe.  So if you want to check that at the break that's fine.

MR. ROSE:  We will check that, but it seems fairly done.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If you go with me to page 10 of the compendium, that's Board Staff Interrogatory No. 55. I put in the interrogatory, but I'm really interested in the attachment, which is attachment 1 which starts at page 11 of the compendium.  So this is the Unit 2 execution, or the U2EE estimate.

And if we go to page number 5 of the document, which is page 15 of the compendium, we see under Table II 4 unit contingency summary, we see the Unit 2 total line and there's the RQE at 690 -- which is what we've been talking about, I think, although we were talking about 694.1.

And then if we go to the current U2EE, we see 677 and the 677 is the new contingency allocation, or updated contingency allocation for Unit 2 as of today, as I understand it.  Is that right, Mr. Rose?

MR. ROSE:  The 677 was the revised contingency as of the filing of this memo, which is August 12, 2016, which set the baseline budget for the Unit 2 contingency.

MR. MONDROW:  The 677 is an unescalated number?

MR. ROSE:  The 677 includes interest and escalation, as did the 694, and this is noted, Mr. Mondrow, at the bottom of page 4.  There is no significant change in the anticipated contingency calculated at RQE.  For clarity, RQE consisted of 1706 million of contingency in 2015 dollars plus 300 million of inflation and interest, which totals 2006 million.

MR. MONDROW:  You're right.  If I look at the four unit contingency totals at the bottom of the columns on this Table II, I see just over $2 million, which indicates that these are escalated numbers?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  I told you this would be complicated, at least for me.  So just give me one moment so I don't confuse the record here.

So if I recalculate the P50 contingency using the updated U2EE Unit 2 escalated estimate of 677 million, I would apply the now validated the same 82.4 percent ratio, I get 557.8 million and that's on an escalated basis for P50 contingency on Unit 2.  Does that sound right?

MR. ROSE:  Yes, I believe so.  I hesitated a moment because, of course, the previous discussion we had was based on RQE.  This is now based on a revised Unit 2 estimate, so there may be some minor variances in it.  But we're in the right ballpark.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if I want to determine the reduction in the Unit 2 estimate at a P50 level due to the U2EE update, I would from CCC 18 take the 694.1 million, which we agreed was escalated for Unit 2 at an RQE, and I would subtract 557.8 million which I just calculated, also an escalated number, and I'd get 119.2 million as the reduction between RQE and U2EE for Unit 2 P50 contingency.

Does that sound right to you?

MR. ROSE:  Subject to checking the math, that seems reasonable.  We're still in the same range.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that's on an escalated basis.  One more loose end here from my perspective.

If we go back to CCC 18, and this time on page 7 of the compendium, OPG provided a chart which provided the in service additions at a P90 level and a P50 level for Unit 2 for each of the test years.  And I believe these are all escalated numbers; that's what in service means, you calculate to the in service date?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm going to ask if you can update these calculations using the U2EE now requested Unit 2 contingency as the base, and the P50 Unit 2 contingency derived in accord with the ratio you've now confirmed is appropriate?  So can we get an update of this table?

MR. ROSE:  I think that will be a good opportunity for me, as I update this table under undertaking, to also validate those math and explain very clearly in our response how it is that we calculated, just in case there are difference between what you provided verbally here that I'll get to properly check.

MR. MONDROW:  I think that would be excellent, and I'm assuming we can stick on an escalated basis.

MR. ROSE:  We can remain on an escalated basis.  That will simplify things for everyone, I think.

MS. LONG:  Madam Chair, if I can get a number for that?

MR. RICHLER:  J5.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  TO UPDATE THE TABLE IN INTERROGATORY NO. CCC 18 AT PAGE 7 OF THE COMPENDIUM


MR. MONDROW:  I think I might have even slipped an escalated/non-escalated issue in there.  So your clarification will be very helpful, thank you.

MR. ROSE:  Fair enough.  I'll make sure we cover all bases when we respond.

MR. MONDROW:  I would like to go to starting at page 16 of Exhibit K5.1, our compendium, I just set out a section from the evidence.

I should have mentioned off the top, Madam Chair, that everything in the compendium is from the evidence.  There is nothing new here.

This is an excerpt from D2, tab 2, schedule 7.  I started at the contingency section, which is at page 16 of the compendium, page 6 of the evidence.  And I would like to use, for discussion purposes, starting with chart 1 on page 17 of the compendium.  Mr. Reiner and I had some discussion about this chart and I'm going to paraphrase here -- I'm happy to take you back to the transcript, if you wish, but I don't think this is contentious.

We had some discussion about the difference between project contingency and program contingency, and I suggested that at a program level, the contingency would relate more to how the projects interact with each other as opposed to the risk inherent in an isolated project.  And Mr. Reiner, on the transcript, did want to give you –- and I assume that would be you, Mr. Rose -- an opportunity to clarify that characterization if required.  So I wanted to make sure I gave you that opportunity.

Again, my interpretation is that at a program level, the contingency would relate more to how the projects interact with each other, as opposed to the risk inherent in each specific project.  And if you want to correct me or clarify, please do.

MR. ROSE:  I think that's a fair assessment.  Maybe I'll give you a full answer here.  Project contingency is those risks that are directly attributable to the project.  It's a discrete risk that that project must bear.

Program contingency are general risks.  They're not applicable to one project; they could be applicable to more than one project generally, or the program as a whole.

We took to allocate that program contingency where it made sense, and an example of that would be schedule uncertainty.  While we calculate schedule uncertainty at the program level, we know that two-thirds of our critical path is RF&R.  So we allocated two-thirds of our contingency to RF&R.  Whereas the balance of that contingency is OPG work, so we didn't allocate that contingency.  And we did that with some of our risks.

After that exercise is complete, there are some risks you really can't allocate to a project.  They're held at the program level for the program to manage.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.  I also asked at the time whether some portion of this unallocated program contingency gets allocated to Unit 2, and neither Mr. Reiner or I noticed this, but I found the answer.  And the answer is in Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 7, page 8, which is the page following this table -- and sorry, that was my fault that I didn't catch that.

But if you look there, that's a Unit 2 contingency amount and if you look at the second last row in that table, there is a program contingency amount of 355.1, and given that's on chart 2, which is a breakdown of Unit 2 contingency, I'm assuming that's the program-level contingency allocated to Unit 2 and therefore included in the revenue-requirement impacts brought forward in this application.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.  As it needs to be as it's related to things like schedule uncertainty related to Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And out of the -- if you look again on chart 1 on the previous page there's about 900 million, that same .9 billion, 900 million number, for program contingency, and so the allocation to Unit 2 is roughly about 40 percent of the total.

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  That's also stated in the first paragraph on Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 7, page 8 --


MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. ROSE:  -- that you referred to.

MR. MONDROW:  And the derivation of the 40 percent, Mr. Rose?

MR. ROSE:  I'm sorry?

MR. MONDROW:  What was the derivation of that 40 percent?

MR. ROSE:  Unit 2 being the first unit that we are going to refurbish, we wanted to ensure that we allocated the appropriate amount of contingency based on the risk.  So we expected as we go from the subsequent units the risks would reduce because we will have learned things on the first unit, we'll have dealt with issues on the first unit, and corrected our plans, adjusted our plans, built in mitigation strategies on those results of the first unit.

MR. MONDROW:  Is there any math behind that?  Any --


MR. ROSE:  No, it was in essence an evaluation, a management evaluation, of how much risk we felt was apportionable to Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

Okay.  Three more contingency numbers.  You'll pardon me while I stick on this topic for a few more minutes.  Just find my right page reference here for you.

My goodness, I apologize.  I was sure I included this here.

Ah, there it is.  There are contingency numbers all over the place, and I was trying to gather them, and I'm hoping you gentlemen can help me confirm that I have got the right numbers, and that's why I'm taking some time here.

So there was a number in an attachment to Staff 55, so this is starting at page 10 of the compendium.  I guess this is the same U2 execution schedule we looked at a minute ago, so we must have looked at this number too, but just to make sure I've got it right, at attachment 1, page number 13 of the compendium, my notes are telling me...

I apologize, Madam Chair.  I'm going to -- if I can't clear this up in the next minute I'll move on.

Let me move on and I'll come back.  If I need to I'll come back to this.  I'm sorry.  I had some references and I appear to be missing one and without that one I'm going to confuse all of us, so I'm not going to try to do that.

So let me ask you this.  Mr. Rose, I think we just confirmed that the updated Unit 2 contingency estimate is $677.5 million.  And you're going to confirm that in the undertaking response, but that's the number I think I put to you a few minutes ago.

MR. ROSE:  Well, the 677 is the amount that we carried in U2EE, and that's represented in page 15 of your compendium --


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. ROSE:  -- so that is confirmed.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Okay.  And I had taken you there, right?  Thank you very much.

All right.  And does that number include the contingency associated with the facilities and the SIO projects, or is there additional contingency for those projects beyond this number?  I think it's the latter.

MR. ROSE:  It does not include it.  The line above is the campus plan program.

MR. MONDROW:  Ah.  Okay.  Good.

MR. ROSE:  You notice that it says "18 held at the program", and there was at that time 41 million of contingency included in those projects.

MR. MONDROW:  And as I understand it, you are asking for recovery of the costs -- the investment in those projects, including the contingency in this proceeding.

MR. ROSE:  So each of these projects are considered early in service amounts, so, yes, some are already in service, and others are planned to go in service in this test period, obviously with the exception of the heavy water project, which has been removed, and they will go in service based on their actual cost, which we've forecasted in a number of undertakings, including J2.6, which I see later in your compendium.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But for the purposes of your relief you're including, to the extent the contingency milestone hasn't been reached, the contingency allocated to Unit 2 in your request, and then as you get there when you pass that you will use the variance account to adjust to actual costs.

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  I just want to reiterate, we don't put contingency in service.  We use contingency to incur actual risks.  It's the -- so we forecast the amount that will go in service, which would include contingency today.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  But for rate-making purposes you're including a contingency on a forecast basis.

MR. ROSE:  We're including amount that's included in the forecast, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Understood.

And removal of the heavy water storage and processing facility from your relief in this application does not impact the contingency number; is that correct?

MR. ROSE:  No, the amount -- there is no amount.  So it doesn't include any additional contingency.  There is contingency within that project itself that would be removed, but there is no additional program contingency that has been excluded because of the exclusion of the heavy water project.

MR. MONDROW:  But the program -- sorry, the project contingency for the heavy water facility has been removed from your updated --


MR. ROSE:  There is contingency within that business case, so within the heavy water business case itself, and I believe this was discussed at an earlier date.  There is some contingency within that business case itself, which is assumed to be spent for the purposes of the current 381 million dollar in service rate.  That entire amount, including the contingency within that business case, has been removed, and correct me if I'm wrong, Mr. Saagi.

MR. SAAGI:  No, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And I think you had some discussion with others about this, but just to make sure that I've got the characterization right, when we looked at CCC 18 there was a number of about $689 million in Unit 2 contingency, and -- at the P90, and then in this -- on page 15 of the compendium we see 690, which is about the same number, and then down to 677, and as I understand it as the project proceeds and the planning proceeds and the experience proceeds you adjust the contingency forecast based on what's been accomplished and how that work has gone.

MR. ROSE:  So the 677 at Unit 2 is the base line that we're committing to deliver Unit 2 for.  So all the risks that will be managed through the Unit 2 execution phase, including those risks that are in the basis of the 677 that trigger or don't trigger, including any risks that we did not anticipate when we put the 677 contingency together, all those need to be managed by the project team within the overall 4.8 billion dollar estimate with this contingency here.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, and you changed -- at RQE, you had 690 for Unit 2; at U2EE, you have 677 for Unit 2.  And that changes as a result of making some progress on the project and getting a bit more certainty?

MR. ROSE:  In a couple cases, risks actually triggered that were moved to base.  In other cases, risks were removed that no longer -- that we'd past the time that the need was not there.  And then there was a reassessment of any new risks that the project needed to bear at the time of Unit 2 estimate.

MR. MONDROW:  Let me move to -- thank you for that.  Let me move to a slightly different topic and get away from the numbers for a bit.

This may be a question for the nuclear panel, Mr. Rose.  I'm not sure, but I asked Mr. Reiner about this.  Do you know by any chance if your nuclear production forecast has a P level associated with it?

MR. REINER:  That would be a question for the nuclear panel to address.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If I could go to page 25 of the compendium, please.  This undertaking response 3.1 that was recently filed, and you were requested by Mr. Rubenstein, I think it was, to provide the 2017 corporate scorecard.  And you provided that, and I've reproduced that at page 26 of our compendium.

I just noted that there are 3 DRP-related metrics on this scorecard, and if you look about two-thirds of the way down the page, you'll see a bolded 40 percent number in the left column and below that, there is a 10 percent, 5 percent, 10 percent number, and each of those three numbers are attached to DRP metrics, if I'm understanding the scorecard correctly.  Is that right?

MR. REINER:  Yes.  Those three -- the 10 percent, the 5 percent, the 10 percent -- are DRP-specific, and there is an element of DRP that also gets rolled into the all injury rate metric at the very top.  That captures overall OPG performance, including DRP.

MR. MONDROW:  Two of those three metrics are critical path metrics; the refurbishment Unit 2 critical path execution, and the refurbishment Unit 2 critical path execution, the first on commencement of the feeder cabinet removal and second on –- it just says progress on critical path.

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  You discussed this with Mr. Buonaguro and I did read that transcript carefully.  I want to make sure that I'm clear about this, and hopefully the record is clear.

Those two critical path metrics are measured at a P90 value on the scorecard?

MR. REINER:  So the number that is under the threshold column, that is the P90 number.  And the number that is under the stretch target column, that is the working schedule number or the P37 number.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  I understood your testimony, when you were discussing this with Mr. Buonaguro, to be that if risks do not materialize in the year in respect of which this scorecard applies, then the threshold for the compensation incentive is reduced by removing the contingency value that would have been associated, or that was associated with those risks.

That is there's an adjustment when applying this to recognize contingencies that have not materialized, and indeed perhaps adjust for contingencies or risks that have materialized.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. ROSE:  Just to be clear, the reference of the adjustments are for the cost line note only, the refurbishment project cost.  The two critical path items are as planned; we wouldn't adjust those.  The P90 value would already have inherently in it contingency up to that point in time.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So the threshold for meeting the critical path progress metrics for compensation is set at and remains at a P90 schedule?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. ROSE:  Whereas the stretch is based on our aggressive working schedule at P37.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  The next interrogatory response I've included here, at least in part, is page 27 of the compendium, AMPCO 44, attached to which, starting at page 29, is an internal report on the Monte Carlo model outcomes.

You had some discussion with Mr. Richler on Friday, I think it was, about the spread between the P90 and the P50 scheduling, and I want to look at a couple of excerpts in that respect.

So if we look at page 19 of the report, which I've reproduced at page 33 of the compendium, under topic heading 7.3 P90, I'm going to read these excerpts into the record and then ask a you few questions about them.

This report says:
"When examining the schedule duration output, it is observed that the P90 schedule duration is very close to P50."
 That's what Mr. Richler writes, "with an average difference of approximately 35 days per unit."  That is 3 percent of the P50 durations Figure 1.
"This indicates that the spread is very narrow, meaning the worst case durations may be overly aggressive or overly optimistic, and the consequences and probabilities may be too narrow.  However, due to contractual arrangements, risks are transferred to OPG internal or transferred to JV internal.  For example, excusable delay is a risk in OPG risk register, and defective work is a risk in JV internal risk register.  Some of these excluded risks may have the extreme worst case impacts, which will not be shown in the Monte Carlo model."

This topic was picked up again, and I want to make sure you have both excerpts in your minds.  At page 22 of the report, which is page 36 of the compendium, you see heading 7.6, risks excluded from risk registers.

It says:
"As per the agreement, certain risks are not allowed in the risk registers as input to the Monte Carlo model.  Due to contractual arrangements, risks are transferred to OPG internal or transferred to JV internal.  For example, excusable delay is a risk in the OPG register, and defective work is a risk in JV internal risk register.

These two risks are examples of risks not included in the Monte Carlo model.  This implies that less contingency will be shown in this Monte Carlo model as part of the contingency shall reside with OPG, and part remain with the JV.  To assess overall contingency, all OPG and JV contingency needs to be considered."

Can you explain what all that means?  How should we interpret that?

MR. ROSE:  I will do my best.  This report here is prepared by the R&FR project team for purposes of their review of the R&FR vendors contingency that they included in their target price.

So when the vendor includes in their target price certain risks up to P50, that is the exercise they went through.  Any risks that are above and beyond what the vendor is bearing that are OPG's to bear are included in our Monte Carlo, in our own risk analysis which includes the Monte Carlo.

So we would not have included risks that the vendor is bearing to achieve their P50.  But we would have included risks -- there was one reference to excusable delays.  The vendor is relieved for excusable delays, and those are delays caused by OPG.  So they're caused by OPG, so we are best to manage and control that risk.  So one of those excusable delays is related to radiation protection.  If OPG for some reason decides that we're going to not have radiation protection people available to the joint venture for a period of time, that's an excusable delay for the contract on the joint venture.

So we carry that risk; we carry that contingency associated with that item.

MR. MONDROW:  And your judgment on that is to put that risk at a P90?

MR. ROSE:  We run that risk, and it's included in our probabilistic model for the entire program.

MR. MONDROW:  And the contingencies carried by the contractors -- in this case, the RFR contractor -- under the target price contract methodology is carried at a P50 level?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct, and there is a very good reason for that.  If we -- we want to motivate the contractor to the lowest possible target price.  That's good for OPG.  That's good for ultimately the cost of this project.

So the only thing we are carrying as OPG, to protect the project and make sure that our numbers are 4.8, is we have a high probability of success, is any risks on top of that that will be ours to bear.

If we let the contractor go to P90, the target price would be higher, and if they delivered for P50, we wouldn't have recourse to adjust that through the CRVA.  Through -- by our P90 we have recourse to adjust any underages through the CRVA.  If we gave the contractor P90, that's profit for them.  So that's why we have a lower probability for the contractors than we do for the amounts that we are carrying.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you.

And so in respect of the contingency as translated into forecast dollars that are before this Hearing Panel for approval as part of the payments approvals requested, they're looking at, for OPG-controlled activities, a P90 approval subject to the CRVA, as you've just pointed out, Mr. Rose, and for the contractors a P50 contingency, at least for the target contractors, and some contingency for the fixed-price contractors, which, we don't really know what level it's at.  Those are the contingency levels all rolled up into the payment amounts, approval for which is sought in respect of Unit 2 in the test period.

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.

Okay.  On Friday, panel, you were also talking about movements in and out of contingency.  I think that was with Mr. Richler primarily, and Mr. Reiner, in the context of Undertaking J4.3 about the draw-down of contingency to date, you said there are movements both out of and into contingency as you go.  I read that correctly?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you gave the example of defueling Unit 2, and as I understand your explanation there you ended up coming in ahead of schedule, and as a result the defueling cost was less than budgeted, and that excess moved into the contingency account, making those funds available should other projects ultimately require access to those funds.

MR. REINER:  That is correct.  And to the extent -- to the extent that there were risks carried in the risk register that were attributable to defueling that did not materialize, any funds associated with that would be held at a general reserve level, which just in essence means it's a different level of authority that would be required to access those funds.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And I think one of your undertaking responses already filed, 4.3, indicates that since U2EE $61 million has been moved out of contingency, so you track what comes out.  I'm assuming you also track what goes into contingency from projects?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So -- and I don't think you've answered J4.3 yet.  I wonder if you could add to that response so that we can see clearly the gross as well as the net movements in the contingency number?  So I think you were asked about what's come out of contingency on a net basis, but I'm also interested in what you put into contingency so that that response will track the movements in and out.  Is that possible to do?

MR. ROSE:  Yes, so just to repeat back, you're asking for the draw-downs that removes from contingency as well as any amounts that we've replenished contingency for risks that have passed that did not bear?

MR. MONDROW:  Right, and then we'd be able to see how that all drops down on a net basis.

MR. ROSE:  We will include that in that Undertaking 4.3.

MR. MONDROW:  That would be great.

MR. KEIZER:  Wouldn't it be better, I think, just to be neater, just to make sure, because we haven't the wording of 4.3 undertaking in front of us, just to create a new undertaking for today?  That would be, I think, just -- we can always cross-reference if we need to.  I just --


MS. LONG:  No, I think that's a good idea.  Let's do a new one.

MR. RICHLER:  The new undertaking will be J5.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  TO PROVIDE THE GROSS AS WELL AS THE NET MOVEMENTS IN THE CONTINGENCY NUMBER.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.

And as Mr. Keizer suggested, a simple reference back to see in Undertaking J4.3 would be fine from my perspective.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Are you clear, Mr. Rose, the time frame you're looking for on that undertaking?

MR. ROSE:  I think you were looking for up to current.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. ROSE:  I would have to look back to the record, but I believe it was up to current, which I would say to the end of January 2017 would be -- that's our current report.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

All right.  Moving to a different topic now, scope changes.  If I could take to you page 37 of our compendium, Exhibit K5.1.  This is another one of the undertaking responses that you provided already.  Thank you for that.

And I asked to provide the major scope changes from when scope was finalized to the present and any associated cost from those changes, and the response is, there have been no major scope changes since the finalization of the approval of the release quality estimate on November 2015, and that's taken through to the end of January 2017.  And I also asked on the transcript, Mr. Reiner, for you to include your assumption regarding my request for major scope changes.

Was there an assumption embedded in your answer?

MR. REINER:  This specific answer actually looks at all the scope changes that have occurred.  They're captured in these Darlington scope requests, and there were four.  So that was the total amount.

One of the them was associated with new scope related to some trailer facilities.  The other three Darlington scope requests were actually revisions of previous scopes of work and were relatively minor in nature, but four is the total number.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's look at the response to AMPCO Interrogatory No. 30, which we've reproduced starting at page 38 of the compendium, and I would like to go to the chart 40 of that interrogatory response, and we see two early in service projects, the Darlington OSB refurbishment and the Darlington nuclear auxiliary heating system, totalling just under $160 million, and both of those projects were reclassified out of the DRP.

Would that not be a scope change?

MR. ROSE:  Those scope changes, including all the reclassification, Mr. Saagi can confirm this after I've said it, were all done prior to RQE.

MR. MONDROW:  Ah.  Okay.

MR. SAAGI:  That's correct.  The reclassification exercise took part during the RQE development.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And I don't think you've been asked this, but why were those -- why were those projects moved out of the DRP?

MR. SAAGI:  Those two specifically?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. SAAGI:  So for the AHS project, which is the second one on the list there, that project actually addresses a longstanding CNSC concern regarding the adequacy of some reliability of backup heating in the event of a four-unit shutdown in the wintertime.  That's the extent of my technical ability.  If you want something more I'll have to ask Mr. Reiner or Mr. Rose to chime in.

MR. MONDROW:  But I didn't ask -- thank you for that, but I didn't actually ask what it was, although maybe that's part of the explanation --


MR. SAAGI:  Oh, sorry.  Okay.  So --


MR. MONDROW:  -- it was put into DRP initially, but --


MR. SAAGI:  So one of the rules we looked at reclassification was how the work related to the actual project scope, so if you look back into what's in the project scope, we're talking about life-limiting components, such as the R&FR, the regulatory and safety improvement items for identifying through the EA, like, you know, for instance, the SIO projects, and the last one was approved balance of plant components, which -- where it made sense to execute during the refurbishment window when the unit is defueled and in the dewatered state.  That was the basis that the reclassification was predicated against.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, I didn't quite follow your answer.  Maybe -- and this isn't in the compendium, but I wonder if we could go to interrogatory -- AMPCO interrogatory 105, which is Exhibit L, tab 4.5, schedule 2.  And it's AMPCO 105.  And I think, Mr. Saagi, this is where these criteria are set out that you just referred to.  So I just want to reference these to these two projects, and maybe you can try to explain to me again why -- let's talk about the auxiliary heating system -- why that was originally in the DRP and then taken out of the DRP.  So it's Exhibit L, tab 4.5, schedule 2, AMPCO 105.  Thank you very much.

Let's stick with the second of these projects, Mr. Saagi, if we could.  Am I pronouncing your name correctly?

MR. SAAGI:  Saagi is correct, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  The auxiliary heating system to maintain heat in the event of a four unit outage; is that what you said?


MR. SAAGI:  It's a long-standing item with the regulator that was identified that needed to be done, and that work itself wasn't required for refurbishment, so it didn't meet the criteria in the DRP project-specific scope.

To that end, the entire cost of the Darlington second life was included in the business case, the economics and the evaluation.  But what we're talking about here is what formulates into the project cost, and the reclassification exercise was really there to ensure that the project has an appropriate cost baseline to be able to measure cost performance against.

So when we get back to the boiler house project, that's not part of core scope.

MR. ROSE:  If I can step back and perhaps -- maybe this will help you with this answer.

When we started planning the Darlington refurbishment project back in 2009 with the time and feasibility estimate, we looked at what are the potential things.  We did some pretty high level, what we call component condition assessments, some high level scoping.

We said what are all the things that could possibly need to be done through the extension of refurbishment.  And through the definition planning and the finalization of the scoping process and our valuations, the financial valuation that Mr. Saagi is referring to, took some of that scope and said this doesn't meet the test of what needs to be in the refurbishment itself.  We're going to move that and fund that through the normal project operations.

As an example, the auxiliary heating system project, it's required for a four unit outage.  Whether that project is in place or not in place doesn't impact our ability to refurbish the units we're setting out to refurbish.


MR. MONDROW:  And the same with the first project, the Darlington OSB refurbishing?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.  That's the house operation staff at the plant.  If that –- and I say this facetiously with my nuclear friend -- if that building is refurbished or not, it has zero impact on us refurbishing the four units.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Rose, when I read here regulatory and safety improvement work, you're interpreting that to mean  -- don't let me put words in your mouth, but I guess I'm wondering how you're interpreting that.  Is that something CNSC has said this is required for you do a refurbishment of four units, and therefore that makes it into the cut?  Or is this something that -- I guess I'm wondering how you're doing an assessment.  Is CNSC doing the assessment, or are you doing the assessment?

MR. REINER:  I'll jump in here for Mr. Rose.  There is a very proscribed process that the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission has set forth that gets utilized to determine what factors need to be considered in scoping out the life extension of a nuclear power plant.  It manifests in the integrated implementation plan.  So that's --


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry.  So that's what we're talking about when I read those words?

MR. REINER:  Yes.  Now, there are some items in the integrated implementation plan that do go outside of refurbishment, because it continues over an extended period of time and some parts of it, for example, continue on after refurbishment is already complete.

That would include things like environmental impacts that the plant might have in its second life of operations.

But that document, the integrated implementation plan, is very clear on which items are part of refurbishment and which items are part of normal station operations to deal with.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Can we go to page 41 of the compendium, please, gentlemen?


As I understand this undertaking response from the technical conference as of September 2016, the life to date costs on Unit 3 were 26 million and I'm almost positive that no part of that 26 million is included in your prayer for relief in this application.  Is that right?

MR. SAAGI:  You're referring to the Unit 3 cost?  That is correct; they are not included in the 4.8.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Those would be part of the planning costs for Unit 3?

MR. SAAGI:  That's correct.  They're predominantly related to the TG work.


MR. MONDROW:  I know we have an undertaking to revisit the planning costs for the three units, so I'll leave that there.

The 972 million in early in service projects, early in service is the same as the facilities and infrastructure in the safety improvement opportunity projects, right?

MR. SAAGI:  Yes.  However, there are some small modifications that are also included in that amount, such as for instance the -- there are some heat exchangers that are in the fueling bay that were installed to improve the -- I guess the heat draw from the bay, and those would have been placed in service when that was completed because they became useful to the station immediately.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the facilities and infrastructure and safety improvement opportunity projects total 377.2 million in respect of your claims in this application, as I understand it.  Is that number right?  The current claim for those is 377.2 million in service?

MR. SAAGI:  I believe that's the number D20 -- correct, that's the revised application.  Subject to check, but that number sounds familiar, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  That's the most recent update as my notes say, so we'll go with that number.  And the D2O facility --


MR. KEIZER:  I'm sorry, Mr. Mondrow.  Do you know where that number is coming from, just so we can make sure when we double check?


MR. MONDROW:  Exhibit A1, tab 2, schedule 2, updated, which is the second impact statement.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

MR. SAAGI:  Yes, I see that number.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, page 4 of that.  So I'm looking at the 972, so we know about 377.2 million of that 972 million from undertaking J1.19, and the heavy water facility was additional 381.1 million, its latest update.  Is that correct?

MR. SAAGI:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And that totals 758.3 million, leaving a balance between this 972 million and the numbers that we know of, of 213.7 million.  So does that 213.7 million, Mr. Saagi, account for these other small projects you referred to a minute ago?

MR. SAAGI:  No.  Some of it yes, but there is spending on other projects that are not in service yet, such as CFVS, or the containment filtered venting system, and the third emergency power generator.  Those costs would be included in the 972 as well.

The early in service amounts in the application amount to about $110 million, and the dominant piece there would be the removal tooling.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry.  What were the two projects you just referred to specifically that are not included in the numbers I've been adding up?

MR. SAAGI:  Sorry, I couldn't hear you.  Can you repeat the question, please?


MR. MONDROW:  You just mentioned two specific projects that are included in the balance of the 972 that I haven't accounted for yet in this discussion.  You mentioned two specific projects a minute ago.


MR. SAAGI:  The 972 represents the capital expenditure to date, and that amount would include expenditures on the containment filtered venting system, CFVS, and the third EPG -- sorry, the third emergency power generator project, as well as another project called STOP.  That stands for shield tank over pressure.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.

MR. SAAGI:  Just to confirm, there are also costs included in that 972 that would have been placed in service ahead of this application as well.


MR. MONDROW:  If we look at page 42 of the compendium, we have there a chart of amounts for definition phase DRP approved by the OEB.  So those amounts would be included in the 972 million?

MR. SAAGI:  The capital in service amounts would be included in the 972, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So those capital in service amounts total 291 million, but I was only looking for a balance of 213.7 million.  So I'm having a lot of trouble reconciling these numbers, as you can see.  And that may be because some are escalated and some aren't.  I don't know.

MR. SAAGI:  No, no, these are all as spent dollars.  The $972 million is an expenditure amount from life to date, so from the inception of the project, which would be 2010.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. SAAGI:  In terms of reconciling to capital in service amounts, you would have to include amounts that have already been placed in service, anywhere through, you know, 2010 through to the 2015, plus the ones that we're asking -- seeking for in in this application.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So that would be the numbers in Undertaking J2.1, page 42 of our compendium.  Those are the numbers already placed in service, plus the --


MR. SAAGI:  Those numbers -- so the 2015 number, you have 143.4 --


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.

MR. SAAGI:  -- according to sub-bullet 2 it does not include amount -- sorry, it's the forecast amount that's there.  The actual amount is a little bit higher.  It's 147.1, and there are some variances against that, but the number that's missing is the 2016 amount that we would have placed in service.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And that 2016 amount is part of your request for relief in this application, I believe.

MR. SAAGI:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So I think what you're telling me, Mr. Saagi, is that when I was looking at JT1.19, which provides unit breakout of the cumulative spend, those -- that cumulative spend and in particular the early in service projects includes some amounts already put in service, and the balance should be the amounts included in this application, right?

MR. SAAGI:  Excluding D2O.

MR. MONDROW:  Excluding D2O.

MR. SAAGI:  Sorry, the --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, I thought D2O was -- sorry, you go ahead.

MR. SAAGI:  The expenditure for D2O is in the 972.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.

MR. SAAGI:  The in service amount is not included in the application.  The 381.1 has been removed.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I think -- and the two reclassified projects that we looked at a minute ago, which you helped me understand were reclassified prior to the RQE, are they included in the 972 at Undertaking JT1.19 or not?

MR. SAAGI:  No, they are not.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that's the footnote number 2 at the bottom of Undertaking J2.1 on page 42 of my compendium, does not include amounts for the Darlington operations support building and Darlington auxiliary heating system projects that were approved and subsequently reclassified to nuclear operations portfolio.

MR. SAAGI:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And when you say were approved, that is were approved by this Board in a previous proceeding but have now been backed out of these amounts for definition-phase DRP approval figures.

MR. SAAGI:  Yes, they're no longer included in our ask.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow, is this a convenient time to break, or --


MR. MONDROW:  It would be an excellent time to break.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  We're going to break for 20 minutes.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:24 a.m.
Procedural Matters:

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I may, I have a couple quick issues for you to discuss before Mr. Mondrow restarts, one of which relates to -- well, both of which relate to the examination this morning.

On the undertaking relating to the experts, we went through a discussion and I think OPG answered the original undertaking on the basis of an expert as would be considered within the context of, I guess, the rules of practice before the Board as an expert you're relying on which, in this case, were Pegasus and Schiff Hardin.

My friend wants us to identify, in any report that's not an OPG report, where the P90 would be identified.  And I guess to go back -- I don't mean to replough old ground, but one concern is that there may be circumstances where our interpretation of what that person is saying about it relative to what Mr. Mondrow may think, or otherwise may be different because it may be implied within the comment or not implied, or it may be an element of argument or not argument.

So one thought was that rather than us necessarily producing an undertaking with respect to -- you know, and getting into whether that is correct or not correct or included everything, given the size of the record, we may miss one or two if you're asking for everything, an exhaustive list.

And my friend's worry -- I think his concern is he wants to know our position with respect to the P90 going into his reply argument, and your concern as well.  It's a relevant area for your deliberation and do you want understand the full scope of which it may have been considered by the evidence as a whole.

So our thought was that we would instead commit to address in our argument in-chief our view of the comprehensive position of where we believe there are external support for the P90 position, which we would have to do in any event, in which case Mr. Mondrow obviously would be fully apprised as to our position going into his reply, and that would be the nature upon the commitment we would be making to do it appropriately.  And I think it is an appropriate place do it, which is in argument, because part of it is an interpretive exercise.

And if we could proceed on that basis, we would address it fully in our argument in-chief as a commitment to do so.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  A couple of clarifications, Madam Chair.  First of all, I didn't ask or didn't intend to ask for identification of everywhere where P90 is identified in the evidence.  What I asked about was the references relied on by OPG when they make the statement that their P90 choice was endorsed.

So that's different; it's the endorsement.

MR. KEIZER:  I'm not saying we reference everywhere P90 is referenced.  That would be a lot of things that will be referenced.

But your latter point is our point, and the fact that there may be statements and comments made in the context of, for example, a Modus report or otherwise that may direct its support for the use of a particular contingency that reflects the P90.

And so my concern is -- I mean, that's an element we would obviously bring forward to support our position in argument.  And so I guess what we're trying to say is let's deal with it in the appropriate place, which is in the argument.

My friend is concerned, I think, that we're somehow going to sandbag him with respect to the P90, and I think what we're saying is obviously it's an important part of our position, and we're prepared to set out within our argument in-chief those places in the evidence where there is support for the P90 on which we intend to rely.

MR. MONDROW:  I think that satisfies my concern, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  I think that satisfies the Panel's concern.  Obviously any reports you're relying on will be footnotes maybe to the record for the Panel, just so we can ensure we can reference the right places.  I know you typically do that in your argument in any event, but that would be helpful to us.

MR. KEIZER:  For sure.  We'll identify the source and location on which we're relying.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  That was the first point.  The second point arising from this morning is -- I think there was some discussion about numbers taken subject to check, and consideration of those at the break.  My understanding is that Mr. Rose has commentary in respect of that.

MR. ROSE:  Thank you.  Our discussion was with reference to CCC Interrogatory No.18, where Mr. Mondrow had asked me to verify at the break, which I have, the math related to the calculation that concluded a number of 116 million deducted from the overall contingency.

And as I expected, it is a matter of decimal places.  The math works -- it's 1.420 billion divided by 1.706 billion, times 694.1 million, equals 578 million.  So the interrogatory as written is correct.

It further goes on to talk about that would be -- if we moved the $116 million from the 2020 in service amount, the 2020 in service amount is comprised of the 4.8 billion for Unit 2 as well as another $9 million in service at that time, or 4809.5 less the 116 equals the 4693.

These numbers are as stated in this interrogatory.  Obviously, when we respond to the additional interrogatory, we'll make sure the appropriate decimal places are on the interrogatory to avoid any further confusion.

MR. MONDROW:  I will not purport to have followed any of that, but I appreciate the clarification and I look forward to the response, Madam Chair.  I don't have any questions arising from that.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  I think you should carry on.

MR. MONDROW:  And I do appreciate it, Mr. Rose.  Thank you.

Gentlemen, before the break we were talking about JT4.1, which is at page 42 of AMPCO' compendium, so why don't we start there.  I'm trying to establish what's been approved and what's in the queue for approval, in particular in respect of these early in service projects.

So I want to look at this table in undertaking J2.1 and trace that across your most recent February update, and the last page of that update -- the update is Exhibit N2, tab 1, schedule 1, and I'm looking at table 3, which is the last page of that update -- and the document masters to my left have a assisted in pulling that up for me.

I'm actually just going to look at the top two portions of the table at the moment, so if we want to zoom in a little bit, that would be fine, thank you.

I realize the undertaking asked for amounts approved, and I have no qualms with the way the undertaking was answered.  I'm just trying to trace the numbers here.

If we start with 2013 and we look -- you won't be able to get both on the screen, but if you look in the compendium at the definition phase DRP approved by the OEB number in 2013, that's 99.2 million.  And we see the same number in the 2013 actual column in this update, 99.2 million.  And similarly, the 2014 Board-approved number for capital in service in the interrogatory response is 43.5 million, and we the 2014 actual number is also 43.5 million.  So far so good.

Then we get to 2015.  So in the undertaking response, the Board-approved number for 2015 is 143.4 million and we see, pursuant to the footnote, that that number does not include the Darlington OSB and the auxiliary heating system projects which we talked about before, which were subsequently -- that is subsequent to them coming before the OEB in the earlier proceeding, reclassified.  So you've backed the numbers associated with those two projects out of the OEB approval to arrive at the 143.4, Mr. Saagi, as I understand it.  Perfect.

But if we look at the 2015 actual table, we see 147.1 million.  So there is a variance relative to the Board-approved number of -- what is that, about $3.9 million.  Is that -- am I reading that right?

MR. SAAGI:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So for -- okay.  Perfect.

MR. SAAGI:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that variance will go in the CRVA?

MR. SAAGI:  That would be my understanding, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.  So that takes us up to 2015.  And then if we look at your requests in this proceeding for capital -- in service capital additions for the DRP we see the 2016 budget number on the second table in the update.  We can put the interrogatory response aside now, because we're past the point of OEB approval.  So these are all prospective.  So the 2016 budget number is 350.4 million and the 2017 plan number is 8.5 million.

And that 8.5 million is without the heavy water facility, as I understand it; is that right?

MR. SAAGI:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the question I wanted to ask you about those two numbers, the 2016 budget and the 2017 plan, both of which are before the Board in this proceeding, is, do they include -- those numbers include the impacts that you've now provided in Undertaking J2.6, which is page 44 of our compendium.  This is the table that we asked be updated for the various project listings to the most current information.

Do those numbers in your February update include the numbers and the impacts provided in the undertaking update?

MR. SAAGI:  No, they do not.  They --


MR. MONDROW:  They do not.

MR. SAAGI:  D20 was the only item that was removed.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. SAAGI:  And the 2.6 is the revised or the latest forecast amounts.

MR. MONDROW:  So the 2016 number of 350.4 million will change, we know that, and indeed, those changes, at least to date, are captured in the updated table provided at J2.6.

MR. SAAGI:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, so the -- I guess I'm just confirming another way, your most recent, late last month evidence update includes figures for 2017 budget and 2017 plan for the DRP, for which you're asking for recovery of, and we know already the actuals have resulted in changes to those two requested numbers.  And we have some information on those actuals in J2.6.

MR. SAAGI:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.

All right.  So if we could move in to page 44 of the compendium.  I want to review with you some of the changes relative even to your update that we're expect -- that you're expecting, and so we're expecting.

Before I get to that, though, I want to talk about just for a minute -- another minute about the heavy water project, about which you've heard a lot already and this Panel's heard a lot already.  And I know those weren't in the -- the heavy water numbers were not in either the undertaking response that we were looking at, nor are they in the update.  You made that point.

But just to recap, my understanding is that the heavy water project, the initial for release was 110 million, and then when you did your RQE that went up to 381.1 million.  That was included in the initial filing on this application, 381.1.

MR. SAAGI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And can you just remind me --


MR. SAAGI:  Sorry, let me just clarify one thing, just --


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.

MR. SAAGI:  -- the 381 is the total.  There was a partial in service amount for the heavy water of 14-point-x million dollars a few years back.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can you remind me who the contractor is on that project?

MR. SAAGI:  The current contractor is the joint venture SLN-Aecon.

MR. MONDROW:  And the original contractor?

MR. REINER:  The project was initially contracted to Black & McDonald.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And I think the earlier testimony in this proceeding, Mr. Reiner, was that the actual need date for this facility is when the Unit 2 refurbishment outage and the Unit -- sorry, the Unit 3 refurbishment outage and the Unit 4 refurbishment outage overlap, which leads to the need for increased capacity relative to current capacity for storing heavy water.

Did I understand that right, and that overlap date is around 2021, 2022, you said?

MR. REINER:  So that's the point at which it would have a critical-path impact.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. REINER:  But there is a risk that we are currently running in -- at Darlington because we are utilizing existing capacity that is there for the operating plants.  And so that does introduce an element of risk should some issue in an operating unit be encountered that might require draining heavy water from the unit.

MR. MONDROW:  But that risk has always been there.  If two units go out at the same time, you have insufficient storage capacity for the heavy water.  That's always been the case.

MR. REINER:  Yes, if you had a multiple unit outage and multiple units required draining of heavy water, yes, there is an element of risk.  But right now in our current mitigation plan to deal with the potential delayed in service date of the heavy water storage facility that storage is being consumed.  So there is -- it's 100 percent probability.  It is being consumed.  It doesn't normally get consumed during normal operations, because the heavy water sits inside the units.

MR. MONDROW:  When you normally take a unit outage historically do you dewater the facility?

MR. REINER:  No, you don't always dewater.  There are times where you would drain to a certain level to do maintenance on certain items, but you don't de-water during normal operations.

MR. MONDROW:  Have you done that in the past, drained to a certain level to do certain --


MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And is there any spared capacity at all in the current facilities if you had to drain a second unit to a certain level?  Or are they completely full?

MR. REINER:  I don't know the exact capacity that would be available and how we would manage that, but it would put us into a very difficult circumstance.

MR. MONDROW:  When you say "it", drainage to a certain level of a second unit would --


MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- difficult circumstance --


MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- but you don't know what level that is?

MR. REINER:  No, I -- the nuclear panel can answer technical details on this.  It isn't something that I'm an expert in.

MR. MONDROW:  But they told you that there is a significant risk?

MR. REINER:  Well, I know that there is a risk because we are utilizing storage at the plant for Unit 2 that would otherwise be available to operating units.

MR. MONDROW:  But you don't know how much of a risk that is.  You know --


MR. REINER:  I --


MR. MONDROW:  -- there's a risk but you don't know how much of a risk.

MR. REINER:  I haven't done any sort of an analysis on it to give you a consequence times probability type number.

MR. MONDROW:  Assuming that I would even understand that anyway.  All right.  We'll talk to the nuclear panel about it, thanks.

But you did testify -- when I asked you about the risk earlier in this proceeding, your answer was -- and I appreciate now you've identified a different kind of risk, but your answer at the time was, it's a critical-path risk, and fair enough.  I was asking -- or you were answering, at least, about critical path.  It's a critical-path risk in 2021 or 2022.

MR. REINER:  That's correct.  That's when there would be a critical-path impact.

MR. MONDROW:  And you were going to put this facility into rates had it been on schedule in 2017.

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And now you won't be putting it into rates until 2022, subject to CRVA treatment of expenditures along the way.  Is that the plan?

MR. REINER:  Yes, subject to CRVA treatment, that's when it would go into rates, whenever that would come before the Board.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thanks.  That's great.

So let's leave for the moment heavy water and go back to J2.6, attachment 1, which is page 44 of our compendium.  I just want to look at a couple of these updates on some of these projects relative to your impact statement.

So the first line on this table is the overall Unit 2 refurbishment, and clearly you're still forecasting February 2020 in service date and the numbers haven't changed at all; that's perfectly understandable.


The next line on this is the R&FR tooling and removal activities.  Was that a critical path activity?


MR. SAAGI:  It's not a critical path activity.  This amount relates to the removal tooling specifically.


MR. MONDROW:  So the removal tooling was not a critical path activity?


MR. REINER:  This is the cost associated with the tooling that is used to remove the reactor components.  That tooling has all been delivered to site, has been tested on the mock-up, is ready for deployment.  So there is no critical path impact related to this specific item.


MR. MONDROW:  If the tooling had not been delivered, that wouldn't have delayed the project?


MR. REINER:  If it had not been delivered, yes, that would have delayed the project.


MR. MONDROW:  But it has been delivered?


MR. REINER:  It has been delivered, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Indeed it was only one month late?


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And the cost has gone up just -- that's  a million dollars, I think?  1.1 million dollars relative to the as-filed number?


MR. SAAGI:  That is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And was -- did one of your prime contractors build that tooling?  Is that your RFR contract?


MR. REINER:  Yes, that's included as part of the RFR contract in the definition phase with the joint venture.


MR. MONDROW:  Heavy water, we've talked about already.  I won't take you over that again.


The next is water and sewer project.  It actually came in quite a bit early, it looks like, and under budget.  Just pointing those out to be fair to you, because these are going both ways, I think.


The Darlington energy complex came in a bit early and materially under budget, it seems to me.


The retube feeder replacement island support annex; a significant delay and about a 5 million dollar cost increase, but now that's an actual, that's completed, correct?


MR. REINER:  Yes, that is an actual correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Who was the contractor on that?


MR. REINER:  That was an ES Fox constructed facility.


MR. MONDROW:  And I appreciate there is lots of contractor information in the tens of thousands of pages of evidence.  But I appreciate you giving me that name as we're going through this.  That's of great assistance to us.


The next line, the refurbishment project office; also early, although over budget in the end by $4 million, 5 million -- 4 million it looks like, but now in service.  Was that a contractor, or was that OPG work?


MR. SAAGI:  That was a contractor.


MR. MONDROW:  Which contractor was that?


MR. SAAGI:  ES Fox.


MR. MONDROW:  The electric power distribution system came in early and almost on budget -- a little bit lower, in fairness.


And the third emergency power generator and the containment filter venting system.  These are two projects, I think, Mr. Saagi, you mentioned to me earlier.  They have both been significantly delayed and in both cases, the costs are escalated and they're forecast to be in service this month.


Is there any update on that from the time of this response?  I know there is not a lot of time that went passed, but you're still forecasting in service this month?


MR. REINER:  Yes, we're still forecasting in service this month, and both of those projects are just undergoing final commissioning.


MR. MONDROW:  And these cost numbers are both still current, as far as you know?


MR. REINER:  Those are our most current forecasts for those projects, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And the contractor on each of those projects?


MR. REINER:  The contractor is ES Fox.


MR. MONDROW:  On both?


MR. REINER:  On both.


MR. MONDROW:  You've had a lot of testimony on ES Fox w, so I'm not going to take you over that at the moment.


Now, those were the projects over 20 million, and just before I get to a couple of the smaller ones, I want to talk about a project that's not on that list because it's part of the RFR bundle.  I think that's why it's not on the list, not a hundred percent sure, but it's the retube waste processing building.


And maybe we can -- I apologize, Madam Chair.  These pages aren't in the compendium, but I did advise OPG of these pages later last night, so the document wizards could have them.


The first evidence excerpt is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 8 at page 11, which talks about the retube and feeder replacement project.  And the retube waste processing building, the amount of that project is 163.1 million at the time of prefile.  It's 9 percent of the RFR bundle.


I'm sure there is a very good reason why this wasn't on the list I just read through, but what is that?


MR. SAAGI:  The retube waste processing building in service amount is included within the 4.8 billion, which is being placed in service in 2020.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  This list is early in service projects, and that's part of the --


MR. SAAGI:  That's part of the larger in service amount, correct.


MR. MONDROW:  I knew it was obvious; I just wasn't getting it.


I want to look at the status of that building.  In the prefiled evidence, the amount for that project is 163.1 million -- if we can just remember that for a minute.


And the next excerpt I have here is an interrogatory -- sorry, an undertaking response.  So this is J1.2,  attachment 1, page 14, filed just a few days ago on March 1st.


J1.2, attachment 1, page 14; this is an update on the F&IP and the SIO projects; it's kind of a dashboard, and we see the retube waste processing building at the bottom.  So the at-completion of the project number in column F for cost is now at$ 192 million, a change from the 163.1 at the time of filing, Mr. Saagi?


Am I reading those numbers correctly?  That 192 actually replaces 163.1 on an updated basis?


MR. SAAGI:  No, they're not actually totally comparable.  The 192 here would include OPG's portion of the cost as well, where the other schedule is related just to the RF&R contract.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So we don't have on this dashboard that we're looking at the RFR contract specific number, just the rolled up number?


MR. SAAGI:  Say that again.


MR. MONDROW:  On this dashboard page on the screen, we don't have the RFR specific cost, just the rolled up number?


MR. SAAGI:  That's correct.  This one would have the OPG cost as well as interest cost, so that would account for the difference.


MR. MONDROW:   Is that project running on budget according to the 163.1, or over budget?  Do you know?


MR. REINER:  That project is running on budget.


MR. MONDROW:  And it looks like it's forecast to come in a little bit ahead of schedule.  Need date -- sorry, not ahead of schedule, ahead of the need date.


MR. REINER:  Correct,  ahead of the need date.


MR. MONDROW:  But is it on schedule, or ahead of schedule, or behind schedule?  Do you know?


MR. REINER:  We're expecting it to be executed in accordance with the dates shown here.


MR. MONDROW:  We've only got two dates here; one is the need date, one is the current forecast.  What's the original forecast?


Now there is a variance from last period column.  Maybe that's my answer.


MR. REINER:  So that project is currently -- as we track it today, we see it as running somewhat behind schedule.  I think that was highlighted in some of the refurbishment construction review board evidence on hours earned and a contribution of the lack of earned hours is this project.


The contractor has put in place a recovery plan, and the projected end date that we are showing here has not changed in that recovery plan.


MR. MONDROW:  So the projected end date you're showing assumes the recovery plan is successful?


MR. REINER:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the contractor here is the joint venture?


MR. REINER:  The contractor is the SNC joint venture and this is part of the target-price contract.

MR. MONDROW:  This is a critical-path project?  You need a place to put the waste when it's pulled out of the reactor?

MR. REINER:  Yes, and that's why the need date becomes important.  The in service date -- the difference between the in service date and the need date is the period of time by which there would be a potential critical-path impact if there were a delay in the in service.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So I still think you haven't given me the original planned in service date.  Do you have that handy?

MR. REINER:  It's -- sorry, under the "need date" column, July 2017 is -- and that is actually -- in this particular table that is actually -- end of July is the projected in service date.  The actual need date is about three months past that, and you can extract that from the critical-path schedule that's included in evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's back up for a second.

What was the original planned in service date?

MR. REINER:  End of June 2017, currently projected at end of July 2017.

MR. MONDROW:  So the original planned in service date was end of June 2017 and the current forecast in service date is June 2017.

MR. REINER:  The current forecast -- I'll just go back.  This table should have a correction for that particular project.  The current forecast in service date is -- so that this specific report that you're looking at is a September 30th report.  So the current forecast in service date is end of July, shown here as end of June, but it is end of July.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, so you're updating this.

MR. REINER:  So it's an update to this.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Thank you.

And so this need date column, July 2017 on this September 2016 report, that's not correct?  Was that just an error, or has the need date been updated?

MR. REINER:  No, the need date is tied to critical path on the execution schedule.  And on the working schedule the need date is October 2017.  That is when the facility will first be required to actually begin processing components that got pulled out of the reactor.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So I'm asking is that -- okay.  So...

So let me recap.  The forecast in service is now end of July.  You won't need it 'til October, and this need date is just wrong.  The need date on this table, the July 2017 need date, is wrong, and I asked, was that just a mistake or has there been a change between September and now in the need date for the facility?

MR. REINER:  Yeah, no, there has not been a change in the need date.  The need date, as we discussed earlier, when does this project begin to impact critical path, that's what I would define as the need date.  The current in service date is end of July.  It begins to impact critical path at end of October.  That's when it is required to start processing waste.

So that isn't shown on this report.  You would extract that off of the critical-path schedule.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Ms. Grice was just informing me that there is a reference which I have for you which we didn't have before.  I wasn't expecting these answers.  But apparently the RQE in service date for this project was December 2016.  The reference for that is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 8.  It's attachment 1, page 13.

So I'm just trying to understand whether that at some point was a target or a planned in service date that's now slipped.  Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 8, attachment 1, page 13.  Scroll down.  Right at the bottom of the page:

"This facility is required to process waste in support of the RFR project.  Construction activities are underway and the facility is expected to be in service in December 2016."

So it looks to me like your evidence indicated that -- or the documents filed with your evidence indicated that there was initially an in service expectation of December 2016, and we're now looking at an in service date at end of July 2017.

MR. REINER:  So this project, like all of the projects, follow the gated process at the time of RQE.  So it's a project that was in the midst of design and development.  At the time of RQE this was the projected date.  It had not yet passed through the gate to finalize its estimate or to have engineering completed.  When that project passed through the gate, that is when the in service date of end of June was established.  And that has been revised to end of July.

So this would have been -- this November date was a snapshot in time on where the development of the project was at at the time of RQE.

MR. MONDROW:  When you say "in service date", Mr. Reiner, is that in service, tested, and ready to go?

MR. REINER:  That would be in service and tested and ready to go.

MR. MONDROW:  And is there a risk associated with the confirmation through the testing and the ready-to-go milestones for this project?

MR. REINER:  Like with any project, when you test and commission, there's a reason for testing and commissioning.  It's to ensure that everything was constructed in accordance with design and that it operates in accordance with design, and there are always risks associated with that.  And that's why you take measures, as we did in this project, to ensure there's enough, what we call float in the schedule between when a critical-path impact were to occur, which is end of October, versus when the facility actually comes in service.  That provides you some room for mitigation of risk and mitigation of delays in service, of delays in an in service date.

In this particular project, the complexity lies in the actual tooling that gets used to do the waste processing.  That tooling will be housed inside this facility.  That tooling has all been constructed and it has been factory acceptance testing, and it is currently in storage with the vendor that fabricated that tool set.  So that also mitigates some of that risk.

MR. MONDROW:  Historically this has been a risk area for retubing projects.  Would you agree with that?

MR. REINER:  Waste -- processing of waste has been -- historically has been a risk area, and primarily because the previous retubes needed to process waste as it -- as the components were extracted from the reactor.  So before components actually came out of the reactor vault they were volume-reduced inside the reactor vault so it was part of an assembly line process.  And the performance of that tooling had a direct impact.

What we embarked on here partially due to need and partially due to risk mitigation, the Darlington reactor vaults are not large enough to accommodate the waste tooling inside the vault.  We had to construct a separate facility.  So that deals with an issue that we couldn't overcome.  But at the same time, it introduces an opportunity to mitigate impact on critical path, should there be a performance issue.  And the way that's accounted for is because it's not a direct serial tool, there is some opportunity to stockpile, if you will.  Not a lot; we don't want to get into that.

And the other opportunity is the footprint of the facility is not limited, and we undertook to build 200 percent redundant waste processing capabilities inside that facility.  So if we have a problem with one, we have another that can be utilized while the one facility is being maintained and corrected.  


So that's how we approached that risk that was seen on previous refurbishments.

MR. MONDROW:  So clearly, you've agreed, both explicitly and implicitly, that this has been an area of historical risk.  You've explained a number of lessons learned and actions that you've taken either to address that risk or will, as a result, address that risk.  And you're watching the joint venture very closely to make sure that this project now gets finished on time.  There is a remediation plan in place and you feel you're on top of that.  Have I summarized?

MR. REINER:  Yes, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  That's helpful.  Thank you.  Excuse me, Madam Chair, for one minute.

Maybe the best way to do this is just to confirm while you're here, gentlemen.  The schedule for this project has slipped, I think we agreed at the end, but the project remains on budget.  Is that right?

MR. ROSE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So do you know how that's happened?  Usually, when -- I think all your testimony today has been schedule slippage results in increased costs.  That's not the case here, so what --

MR. REINER:  I just want to go back to what I said earlier.  Again, when we provide updates as we did in the release quality estimate based on the best information we had at the time, we were projecting a November date for that project.  It was in early stages; in fact, final pricing had not yet been agreed to with the contractor at that time.  It was a best estimate, given what we knew about the project.

Subsequent to that, this project has gone through that gated process that we've talked about, where estimates are required to be at a certain classification; engineering is required to be at a certain level, in order to have confidence in both date and cost for completion.

And so I wouldn't characterize this as a schedule slippage.  The date that was established for when the project had gone through its proper gate was June 2017.  So it has slipped to July 2017, so we're seeing a one-month slippage.  But expecting the recovery plan to hold that July 2017 date.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  When I said slippage, I was referencing your RQE.  But you're saying that was not a completely fleshed-out project at that point?

MR. REINER:  Exactly.

MR. MONDROW:  Confused by the term RQE, but I guess it's a timing issue at times.  Okay, thanks.

If we can finish off with J 2.6, the updated projects table, page 45 of the compendium.  So these are the smaller projects, 5 million to 20 million dollars.

And as I did before, to give you the benefit of the good performance as well as asking you about the not so good performance, the first project is fuel handling heat exchanger plate replacement.  And, Mr. Saagi, I think you referred to that earlier in our discussion.

The in service date as filed was July.  You made that, and that's not now an actual and the price came in almost bang on.  Balance of plant negative pressure containment, the second line on the table, there was a small bit of slippage and a small bit of cost increase, but that's now an actual.

The third project, balance of plant heavy water islanding modifications; some slippage from October -- sorry, from August 16 as filed in service date to October 16 actual in service date, and a significant cost increase.

What was the driver of that delay?

MR. SAAGI:  So on the cost side, about half of that $5 million is related to schedule delays on the integrated work between the joint venture and Black and MacDonald related to isolation requirements.  And the other half is two-and-a-half-million dollars for vendor underestimate on the original proposal, as well as additional operation support required for the moderator drain.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for the comprehensive answer. And the original vendor was Black and MacDonald then?  The party responsible for that original estimate was Black and MacDonald?

MR. SAAGI:  I believe it was, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.  Balance of plant low pressure service water; the final in service date as filed was February 18th, now forecast two years later at a lower cost. Can you just explain that?

MR. SAAGI:  That's an accounting thing.  We initially thought we could place that asset modification into service early when it was complete.  But upon further examination, we determined it didn't meet the useful test.  So we deferred the modification to be placed in service with the rest of Unit 2.

And just before -- just to correct something on this table which we noticed after the fact, turning to line 6, the total should read in the last column, so that's column L, rather than 0.1, it should read 6.6.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SAAGI:  Just a math error.

MR. MONDROW:  That's great, thanks.  Beat me to the punch there.  Thank you.  Not a punch really.

DM facility interim office leasehold improvements; the final in service date as filed was February 20, and still forecast for February 20 at a slight cost increase from 9.3 to 10.2.  So those again, Mr. Saagi, are facilities that are used and useful at the time Unit 2 goes back into service, I gather.

MR. SAAGI:  Correct.  Those were to do with leasehold improvements at our facility considered temporary mods, so they wouldn't be placed into service until Unit 2 is actually complete.

MR. MONDROW:  Good.  Is there a contractor, or is that OPG work?

MR. SAAGI:  I don't recall who this would have been.  It wouldn't have been any of our major vendors.  This was-off site.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, thanks.

MR. SAAGI:  The variance actually, just for the record, is related to interest as time when on.  The initial 9.3 didn't attract the interest all the way to the February 2020.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Vehicle screening, just to make this quicker, no problems there; on track.

Power house steam venting system improvements; slight delay, slight cost increase, but an actual in 2015.  So no issues there.

Shield tank over pressure protection; this looks from the footnote like there is a recent gate progression form or change control form applicable to this project.

The final in service date as filed was July 17, now forecast for September 17 and pretty significant cost overrun.  Who is the contractor on that?

MR. REINER:  So this project gets executed on running units during unit outages, and so you will see dates move based upon the scheduling of outages for operating units.

The one exception is Unit 2.  It will get installed in Unit 2 during refurbishment, but all other units to have been installed already and Unit 1 will get installed in the upcoming planned outage, which will start later on in the spring.

The contractor on this project is Black & McDonald.  There is a cost variance on this, and I can explain the basis for the cost variance.  This is also a safety improvement that needed to be implemented as part of our regulatory -- our Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission regulatory application.

During implementation we had uncovered a design flaw in the systems related to where this particular safety improvement needs to be tied into the plant.  We had made a decision to correct that design flaw and to utilize contingencies and incur the costs to make that correction.

Without correction of that design flaw we could not have put this safety improvement into service, and due to technical reasons there was no other option available to us to work around this, and we did actually have to go back and correct a legacy design issue that's been with the plant since it was first constructed.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.

And ending on a high note, from your perspective, just to be complete, the last project in line number 9, the emergency service water buried services, looks like it was actually completed back in 2015, a month ahead of schedule and a little bit under budget.  So there you go.  Good work.

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I had hoped to finish before a 12:30 lunch break.  I don't think that's going to happen.  I don't anticipate a lot of time after lunch.  It's hard for me to estimate exactly how much.  I'm assuming you want to break at 12:30, but if you wanted to break now and come back, that's okay too.  Otherwise I'll try to get a point at 12:30 to break.  But I just wanted to let you know I --


MS. LONG:  Whatever works for your cross.  If you want to go for another ten minutes or if you want to take a break now.

MR. MONDROW:  If we take a break now I'll probably be more efficient later.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then we'll take a break now.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  We'll break for an hour.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:20 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Keizer, any issues that you want deal with?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  No, not at the moment.  I think that one point, just to raise this, is that I know that the schedule early identifies that we have, I guess, 45 minutes total on the settlement proposal.

I just don't believe it will take that much time.  I think it will be much shorter, I hope, than the 45 minutes.

MS. LONG:  You're thinking we don't have any questions about it.  That's with a you're hoping, right?

MR. KEIZER:  No, I'm sorry, the half hour I have on presentation will be much shorter.  Questions may take a whole 15 minutes.
Appearances:

MS. LONG:  Mr. Garner, I see you here.  Are you putting in an appearance?

MR. GARNER:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair, Mark Garner, consultant with VECC.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  Hopefully, you're all now lulled into a malaise after lunch.  Now come the hard questions.

Can you remind me, please, of the date of the RQE?

MR. ROSE:  It was November 15, 2015.

MR. MONDROW:  And your pre-filed evidence is based on RQE numbers.  Am I correct about that?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If we can, I want to go back for a moment to J2.6, attachment 1.  This is the projects greater than $20 million that we went through before lunch, and I want to look at line 4, which is the water and sewer project.  I want to understand the basis of this chart, and the dates confused us a little bit.

So looking at line 4 under the final in service date as filed column of November 15th, which was -- November 2015, sorry, which was the RQE date essentially.

You have a final in service date of November 2015, which is, I assume, based on the RQE as filed, but an in service date of a year earlier.  I'm trying to understand how that could be.  Is that a typo?

MR. SAAGI:  Actually, it's not.  The information presented is consistent with how we would record the projects portfolio or the AISC.   So the values and the dates are based on the business case summary or GRB, Gated Review Board.

MR. MONDROW:  The RQE would not have updated the business case summary?

MR. SAAGI:  The tables -- the answer is no, not from that perspective.  These tables reflect the latest business case summary, and that decision was made with the company to keep it consistent with the AISC submissions.

MR. MONDROW:  That was the basis of the initial table you filed, and therefore that's the basis upon which you updated this table; you kept that consistent.

MR. SAAGI:  The update reflects the latest forecast Information.  It's not the latest business case; it's the a latest actual forecast information.

MR. MONDROW:  So you kept the column F the same as before, and what you updated was column G and column --

MR. SAAGI:  Column G and column I, that is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  That helps a little bit, thank you.  For the next couple questions -- we had a discussion over lunch with some of my colleagues, because we were coming up to a portion in my discussion with you, my examination, where I was going to try to flip through various tables and define some information that I don't think is on the tables.

But what I tried to do over lunch was to, in discussion with others, kind of focus in on precisely what it is that AMPCO wants to see, and I think others want to see.  So hopefully this will be an easier way to do this, if you can help us out.

So I've asked our colleagues here to open schedule D2 -- sorry, Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, page 4.  There is a chart on there, chart 2, which is an overview of major work bundle contracts for DRP 4 unit refurbishment.

And when I went through the list of projects with you and we updated the dollars and the schedule, I asked about specific contractors.  Clearly, there some interest in some of these contractors in this proceeding.  So here we have a chart that provides the contractors for each of the work bundles, and the dollar figure associated with each of the work bundles for unit 2, if I'm not mistaken -- sorry, this is for all four units.  The numbers are for all four units.  Sorry.

Ms. Grice was just confirming with me that actually what we're interested in at the moment is the in service amounts for this application, which is Unit 2.

So I wondered if we could get from you, by way of undertaking, for each contractor -- some of these work bundles have different contractors, so we don't actually see the dollar amounts specific to each contractor.  And actually, we're not interested in the dollar amount for each contractor for the entire DRP.  We're interested in the in service amounts for this application.

So the question is: could we get for each contractor the dollar value of the contracts under the auspices of that contractor in respect of the Unit 2 in service amounts?  I can restate that in a minute, if you want.  But before I end, the last item on this table is a balance of plants, which has a number of projects, but does not include, as I understand it, the early in service projects, facilities and infrastructure projects, or the safety improvement opportunity projects.

So in the end, I think what we're trying to zero in on is for the in service amounts in play in this proceeding, the dollar value that is the responsibility of each of your prime contractors.  Can we get that from you?  I don't think that's anywhere in the evidence.  We talked about that and no one was aware of how we could derive that.

MR. SAAGI:  There are some details in the evidence under schedule D2-2-10, where we break down the in service amounts -- or it's or D2-28. I would have to check.  D2- 28?

So starting on page -- give me a second here.  There is a summary on chart 4, and when you get to page 11 of 18, it starts to break down, for instance, the R&FR bundle cost for the amount that's included in the Unit 2 in service amount, and there you can see the breakdown.  For instance, for mock-up, it shows 38.2 million, the tooling at 274 --

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, what page are you on?

MR. SAAGI:  D2-28 in evidence, page 11 of 18, chart 5.

MR. MONDROW:  This shows us the cost breakdown?

MR. SAAGI:  Starting with this chart, it goes through the line items, R&FR TG, and provides a breakdown of the amount included in the $4.8 billion.

MR. MONDROW:  But not for contractor?

MR. SAAGI:  In this case, for instance on chart 5, you would see the mock-up tooling and definition phase.  You would see the contract broken down between the elements and see OPG and interest and escalation separately.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But I don't have the numbers by contractor.  If there is one particular contractor the record reveals is at issue, we don't have the dollars at risk associated with that contractor for the in service amounts in this application.  That's what we're after.

MR. SAAGI:  For this one example, this would be the joint venture, SLN/Aecon, would be these ones.  And then if we go on to -- I'm turning to the TG bundle now, which is chart 6, page 14 of 18, and it provides a split between Alstom and the JV.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the rest of the contractors are all dealt with in the balance of this exhibit?  So ES Fox, do we have somewhere where the ES Fox dollars are collected?

MR. SAAGI:  There is no one chart at that summarizes ES Fox, if that's what you are looking for.  I'm just pointing you to schedules that help support the $4.8 billion.

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that.  But what we're asking for is listing of each of your prime contractors of the dollar value of their contracts.  And I took you, to start with to -- let me flip back here.  Just so we could get the scope defined properly, all of your defined work bundles.  So this is in Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, page 4, but there are three items not on this work bundle list:  the early in service projects, the facilities and infrastructure projects, and the safety improvement opportunity projects, and so if I add those three categories to this first column I'll get a list of all of the work included in your request in this application.  And what we wanted to do was for each of those items determine which contractors have -- sorry, let me back up.

What we wanted to do was have a list of the contractors engaged in any of those items and how much of the total dollar value that you're seeking approval of in this application is associated with each of those contractors.

MR. SAAGI:  Specific to the 4.8 or the entire application?  I'm just trying to get --


MR. MONDROW:  The entire application.

MR. SAAGI:  So that would be a separate table.  We would have to pull it together for you.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Could that be done?

MR. SAAGI:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I just think that we may just be careful about how quickly we can turn that interrogatory around, because there may be some things that we have to break down.

MR. SAAGI:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  The contracts, I believe, are on four-unit basis, and so we just may have to, you know, work through, particularly with respect to balance plant, which is multi -- multi aspects to it.  So we'll just have to -- we may not be able to turn it around as quickly as we would typically turn around an undertaking.

MS. LONG:  That's fine, Mr. Keizer.

MR. SAAGI:  And just for clarity, we're talking about the major contractors, correct --


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. SAAGI:  -- the ones that are in chart 2 on D2-2-3.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. SAAGI:  I understand.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be J5.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4: for each contractor in chart 2 of D2-2-3, TO ADVISE the dollar value of the contracts under the auspices of that contractor in respect of the Unit 2 in service amounts, or in other words, for the in service amounts in play in this proceeding, TO ADVISE the dollar value that is the responsibility of each prime contractor


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, we're just checking to make sure that there -- so E.S. Fox is on here.  I don't know if Black & McDonald is on here expressly, although they have got balance of plant projects, as I understand it.  But you include Black & McDonald in your response, I hope.

MR. SAAGI:  If they're included there, yes, I will include Black & Mac.  I just wasn't sure if we still had Black & Mac work on -- for the bundled work or not.  I'm not familiar with that level of -- I know definitely Fox is.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. SAAGI:  But, yes, we can provide.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I think that's what people are looking for certainly.  That's certainly what we're looking for.  Thank you.

It's my understanding from the evidence -- and I did not put this in my compendium, but I don't think it's contentious.  There is a reference.  It's Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 17.  For Unit 2 OPG activities represent approximately 16 percent of the critical path.  Is that statistic familiar to you?

MR. KEIZER:  Can you repeat the -- oh, we have it on the screen.

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  Yeah.  Exhibit L, tab 4.3, schedule 6.  It's Energy Probe interrogatory 017, and the response says that OPG's activities represent approximately 16 percent of critical path.

MR. REINER:  Yes, we have that, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so my question is, where is the balance of the critical path?  Is that all the RF&R (sic) bundle?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So it would be the joint venture.

MR. REINER:  It's SNC-Aecon has the balance of critical path.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.

You were talking, gentlemen, with Mr. Richler on Friday, and he pointed out to you and you accepted that the total DRP oversight budget of 899 million allocated 55 percent, which was 479 million, to Unit 2.  That seemed very high to me, that one out of four units would have more than half of the oversight budget allocated to it.

Can you provide some information that would explain what seems to me to be a counterintuitive allocation?

MR. SAAGI:  Okay.  I'll go on memory.  The main driver -- oh.  There we go.  The main reasons for the difference would be that Unit 2 does not take advantage of a lapped unit, so actually, you know, the other three units are actually in an outage at the same time, so the oversight cost would actually get spread across, so that accounts for a significant delta.  There's a --


MR. MONDROW:  Let me stop you there, Mr. Saagi --


MR. SAAGI:  Okay.  Yeah.

MR. MONDROW:  -- for a minute.  Does that mean that the resources dedicated to oversight don't increase with the number of units, they're constant, and just after Unit 2 they're managing more than one unit at a time?

MR. SAAGI:  No, not necessarily.  You know, there are certain areas where the resources would increase as we get into lapped units, but there's other common areas, you know, you know, maybe more of an overhead structure, like, the program level, where the numbers wouldn't change.  And those amounts or those, you know, call them FTEs would be spread across the two units.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Sorry, I interrupted you --


MR. SAAGI:  No, that's fine.

MR. MONDROW:  And you were --


MR. SAAGI:  So the other piece for Unit 2 would be it actually has a four-year window where the oversight costs are charged directly to it, starting in 2016, even though the outage doesn't start until the end of the year.  So you're seeing four years of oversight costs versus three or one-and-a-half when we talked about the lapped scenarios.  So that would contribute to that as well, and as well, the RQE has some productivity assumptions built into the subsequent units where we're looking to do better as we get experienced with the first unit.

MR. MONDROW:  So the four years of oversight costs means -- I gather means that oversight activity is exercised in respect of planning, which doesn't then get -- or pre-engineering, which doesn't get repeated later on because it's already done.

MR. ROSE:  I just wanted to clarify something with that as we mark -- the 4.8 billion in service amount for Unit 2 is the culmination of the definition-phase planning and the Unit 2 in service amount, so in essence it's from 2010, all the planning activities from 2010, right through the in service of that unit in first quarter of 2020, whereas the other units are spread over much smaller time frame and in the later units they're actually lapped, so you -- where there are no incremental costs there are certain functions that are incremental based on the number of units.  Others are not incremental.  Those costs are shared over two units that are operating in parallel.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But I'm talking here specifically about oversight costs.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So I take your evidence to be that the oversight during the definition phase is being allocated to Unit 2, although that definition includes definition for the subsequent unit refurbishments, but you're allocating that all to Unit 2.

MR. ROSE:  The definition phase includes all the planning effort that was required for us to execute Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  And the oversight related to that planning effort is all being proposed to be closed when Unit 2 is closed to rate base.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And Mr. Saagi, that was the extra year in your four years versus three years of oversight costs.  The early definition costs.

MR. SAAGI:  Actually, that was the point I missed.  The four years starts in 2016, going to 2020.  What Gary was mentioning -- Mr. Rose, I apologize -- was mentioning was the definition phase, which would have started back in 2010.

MR. MONDROW:  An additional point?  Okay.  All right.  But the four years versus three years is the same thing, that there is -- the oversight for Unit 2 includes some -- is over a longer period, because you're isolating that refurbishment, and the others are going to be lapped, so you've got a proportionally higher oversight overhead, as it were, for Unit 2 than for the others.

MR. SAAGI:  That's correct.  It's based on a longer period of time as we're getting ready to open the breaker on the first unit.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thanks.

Okay.  I would like to go to -- starting at page 51 of the compendium, to show you -- you'll be familiar with this in any event.  This is your program scope exhibit that we've excerpted here, Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 5.  And I actually want to go to page 55 of the compendium, which is page 5 of this particular exhibit, and spend a few minutes.

So I talked with Mr. Reiner about this a little bit in panel 1A, and there's an undertaking related to this.  But in the meantime you're here so I need to ask you some questions about some of these examples.

So just first of all, this is about from my perspective the allocation of the early in service projects into rates.  And so I want to start at -- this describes the work bundles at line 11 of this page 5 of this exhibit.  And line 11 starts by saying:

"When applied to the four units the result is approximately 560 specific projects to be completed over the life of the DRP.  Of these, a large portion, more than any other unit, will need to be completed directly for Unit 2."

What does "directly" mean there?

MR. ROSE:  It means it's for Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Does it mean that it doesn't benefit any of the other units?

MR. ROSE:  I don't believe so.  I think it means that we have got to do those -- we've got to do them for Unit 2.

There are some, which we'll get into down this page, there are some in service amounts that need to be put in place for Unit 2, but will also benefit the subsequent units.

MR. MONDROW:  So I shouldn't read directly and exclusively; I should read directly and as a prerequisite to Unit 2?

MR. ROSE:  Directly implying that it's going to go in service with Unit 2, because it's required in order to execute Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, but you're actually answering my point with the conclusion rather than the assumption.  So does the word "directly" mean that you've decided to put those facilities in service with Unit 2?  That what's "directly" means?  So is directly driving the allocation?  Or is it a result of the allocation decision?  I'm assuming it's driving the allocation decision.

MR. ROSE:  These are all Unit 2 specific scopes of work.

MR. MONDROW:  Which need to be done for the Unit 2 refurbishment to be --


MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  But they may apply to the subsequent units?

MR. ROSE:  Some of these will benefit subsequent units, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And continuing on, it says: "In addition, there are projects that involve work that is common to two or more units."

Now, the work that's common to two or more units, are you allocating that work proportionally to those units, or is it all being allocated to Unit 2?

MR. ROSE:  They will go in service for the unit for which they are useful for.  So if there is -- I think one of them is the radiation protection trailer.   I'm referencing the other undertaking that I'm not sure we filed yet, but we've prepared.

There are a couple of trailer facilities that are going to go into service for paired units.  The ones that go into service for Units 2 and 1, because they need to be there for Unit 2, they will go in service with Unit 2.  But Unit 1 will also benefit.

The same thing happens on Unit 3 and 4.  There are a couple projects that will -- again, for unit pairs, that will go in service for Unit 3, but will have been for both 3 and 4.  The in service going in service for the first unit that those assets are required to support.

MR. MONDROW:  Continuing on, it says: "Projects completed during the definition phase that are not part of any outage," I gather these projects are pre-requisites to the refurbishment program, and you're proposing to put them into service and into rates -- sorry, into rates when they're in service, so prior to or with Unit 2, or is it prior to Unit 2?

MR. ROSE:  Which line are you on?  I'm just trying to follow.

MR. MONDROW:  Line 14.  So continuing on from the two or more units discussion we had, the third category listed here is projects completed during definition phase that are not part of any outage.

They are going into service even prior to Unit 2, as I understand it, and into rates prior to Unit 2?

MR. ROSE:  I think it depends on which facility it is.  If it's -- depending on whether it's used and useful at the time it goes in service, such as the fuel bay heat exchanger.  I believe that went in service immediately.

The fuel bays are a common bay; there's a common bay at the east side of the plant and the west side of the plant.  So those will get used immediately to cool down the water temperature as any fuel gets put into those bays, and the fuel comes from any of the four units at that point.

MR. MONDROW:  And they will you be put into rates when they're put into service prior to 2020?

MR. ROSE:  That's an early in service asset, which will be –- it's used and useful the minute it gets placed into service as we're downloading fuel to those bays.

MR. MONDROW:  When is that in service date, by way of example?

MR. SAAGI:  The heat exchanger project went into service in 2015.

MR. MONDROW:  That's already been approved by the Board, am I right?  The 2015 numbers have been approved?

MR. SAAGI:  It's the actual.  I would have to go back to the evidence to see what's been approved by the Board.  This is 2015.

MR. MONDROW:  So there may be a variance in the cost categories included in rates.

MR. SAAGI:  It's not a large project.  It's $6 million.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine.  I was asking for an example, so thank you.  I appreciate that.

Am I correct that the safety improvement opportunity projects and the facilities and infrastructure projects are all proposed to be closed to rate base, either with or prior to Unit 2?

MR. SAAGI:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Is it -- are some with Unit 2 and some prior to Unit 2, or are they all prior to Unit 2?

MR. SAAGI:  99 percent of them are ahead of Unit 2.  There is what we consider the temporary modification for the GM facility that goes into service with Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  You mentioned, Mr. Rose, an undertaking; that's probably J2.9.  We had asked for a list of all these projects that have common elements or applicability beyond Unit 2.  And I appreciate that that's in progress.

In the meantime, I just want to look at these projects in the list here, because this is my opportunity to ask you about these.

The irradiated fuel bay -- and I'm looking at page 55 of the compendium.  We were looking at this before, and these examples are in the bullet points.

So the first is the irradiated fuel bay heat exchange plate replacement, and that's a common system, I think it's referred to as, and it is a prerequisite to the Unit 2 outage.  Is that correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that was a prerequisite in order to allow for Unit 2 to be defueled.

MR. MONDROW:  Is there a heat exchange plate for each unit, or is it just one heat exchange plate?

MR. REINER:  There are two irradiated fuel bays that serve the entire station, and the heat exchangers on both of those irradiated fuel bays are replaced, these plates that are referred to.

MR. MONDROW:  So this is an example, Mr. Saagi, of a project that will go into rates when the plate is installed and in service?

MR. SAAGI:  Yes, this is the project we just talked about that was declared in service in 2015.

MR. MONDROW:  Perfect, thank you.  The next one is engineering and procurement for defueling.  All that's done in advance obviously of any defueling, and it will support all four units.  But that's going into service together with Unit 2?

Sorry, those dollars are going to be included in rates when Unit 2 goes in service; that's how I should have asked the question.

MR. SAAGI:  I believe the reference here is related to the GE contract for defueling.  So there's elements that go into service with Unit 2, and there's elements that continue and will go into service with the subsequent units.

MR. MONDROW:  This refers to engineering and procurement.  So all that has to be done in advance of any defueling, but the -- those amounts are going to be allocated to each of the four units?

MR. SAAGI:  This is basically -- Dietmar, or Mr. Reiner, sorry, can chime in.

This is a materials and engineering type contract.  It includes dummy fuel bundles and rods that push the fuel.  This was equipment that was acquired to get ready for the first unit, and those assets will be placed in service with the first unit.

There is other technical activities that go on to the other units, which will be placed in service at that point in time.  But the lion's share will be with Unit 2 for this specific contract.  It's not the actual execution of the defueling, and that is maybe where some of the confusion is.

MR. MONDROW:  No, that's fine; I understand that.  So the procurement actually means you're buying physical pieces or equipment?

MR. SAAGI:  There are some engineered parts and procurement with this contract, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So when I see engineering and procurement, I need to read those together.  In other words, there is not engineering activity that applies to all four units, and then procurement of some devices that will be in use now as you're starting to work on Unit 2?

MR. REINER:  Maybe I'll provide a bit of clarification.  There are three fuel handling systems shared across four units at Darlington, each one deployable to an operating unit.  So there were modifications that were required in order to allow any of those three fuel handling systems to be deployed to Unit 2 for defueling.

When we defueled the reactor, because it's critical path on refurbishment, we needed to have full availability of all fuel handling systems.  So there are those costs that is spread across all of the plant fuel handling systems, because they are required for Unit 2.

And then there are certain unit specific items.  Procurement of some of these items that Mr. Saagi referred to; dummy fuel bundles is one example.  They're only used in the unit during defueling, so this one has -- it has two elements, modifications needed across all systems to allow for the first unit to be refurbished, and then specific components only used on a unit-by-unit basis.

MR. MONDROW:  So the modifications are going to be complete and in service?  They're going to be put into rates now or when they're completed in service.  I gather that's now, right?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the dummy fuel bundles, once they're procured and put into use, they will be put into service and into rates, right?

MR. REINER:  Yeah, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so Mr. Saagi, you referred to some elements in this bundle that will actually be allocated across later units.  What are those then?

MR. SAAGI:  There is some element of technical oversight and services by the OEM in this contract, and those types of services would be capitalized with the subsequent units.

MR. MONDROW:  Because that work will be ongoing on as the subsequent units --


MR. SAAGI:  That work will actually happen during the execution of those units.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thanks.

The third of these, the work control area projects, required for all four units but will be executed during the Unit 2 outage.  I'm not sure what that means.  What does that mean?

MR. ROSE:  So there is a work control trailer that has been placed in service already.  So it will go in service with Unit 2.  That work control trailer will be used for Unit 2, but also used for the subsequent units.

MR. MONDROW:  So if it's in service already, did you say you're not -- it's not going to go into rates until Unit 2 closes to rates?

MR. ROSE:  I believe that it's in service from our perspective at accounting -- it's accounting in service, it's been AFS.  There are people using it today, but it will go in service from a rate perspective with Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  So if I wanted to explore the regulatory accounting rationale for these nuances, that I assume would be your finance panel?  Is that who I would talk to about this, or the regulatory panel?  I'm just not sure.

MR. ROSE:  I would believe so.

MR. MONDROW:  Regulatory panel?

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, no, I would think that might be panel 5.

MR. MONDROW:  Panel 5?  Okay.  Okay.  Just to make sure that panel 5, though, understands and I understand, I guess, what we're talking about, very quickly, I just want to take you to the balance of these.  So we've got the last bullet on this, page 55 of the compendium, as part of the RFR work package:

"The Calandria tube sheet boring polishing validation required for Unit 2 not to be performed with any other unit."

What is that?  And -- well, so let me stop.  What is that?  Calandria tube sheet boring polishing validation.

MR. REINER:  I'm going to need to take a little bit of a guess at this one, but I think I know what that refers to.  So this is a -- there are methodologies used in the retubing work in the replacement of reactor components.  Calandria tube sheet bore polishing is conditioning of the surfaces that don't get replaced, that stay behind, so the development of that methodology, once it is completed for Unit 2, there is no need to -- there is no need to do that again.

MR. MONDROW:  So the operative term here in this name is validation; that it's -- once validated, you don't have to revalidate each time.

MR. REINER:  We don't have to revalidate each time.

MR. MONDROW:  But the same validation supports the entire DRP project, I assume?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And validation isn't a thing, it's a result, so if I wanted to know why that's going into service now, that would be a panel 5 question?  Unless you can help with that.  Seems like kind of planning to me or engineering or something like that.  I'm not sure why you wouldn't allocate that across all the units.

MR. REINER:  I believe this one goes in service with Unit 2 when Unit 2 goes in service in 2020.  That's --


MR. MONDROW:  It's the why that I don't understand.  I can come back to panel 5 if you prefer.

MR. REINER:  So it's a specific validation that is required in order to execute Unit 2 but can then be re -- it doesn't -- there isn't a need to revalidate the method that is utilized that the validation is based on.  If the validation says, yes, the method is good, then the method just gets reused, but the validation doesn't need to be redone.

MR. MONDROW:  So that's true of all of your planning.  The ten years of planning was all about the entire DRP, but you're not allocating all of that to Unit 2 in 2020, are you?

MR. REINER:  Well, the tooling -- this is a tooling-specific thing.  Yes, the tooling is being allocated to Unit 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.

And the last bullet here, page 56 of the compendium:

"As part of the steam generator's work package a bleed cooler inspection repair is only required for Unit 2."

That's a quirk of that particular unit?  Maybe "quirk" is the wrong word --


MR. REINER:  Yes, I believe this one is a Unit 2 scope specific item.

MR. MONDROW:  So that there is no inspection or repair requirement for units 1, 3, and 4?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.  I believe in this particular case for this sub-bleed cooler it is not required in other units.

MR. MONDROW:  Is it a different piece of equipment than the other units?

MR. REINER:  I think it is the same piece of equipment.  Now, offhand I don't know the precise technical reason why it's Unit 2 only and not other units, but if you need an answer to that we can undertake to provide that.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, I would appreciate that.  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  J5.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5:  TO ADVISE IF THE REFERENCED ITEM IS A DIFFERENT PIECE OF EQUIPMENT THAN THE OTHER UNITS.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.  I think that will help me -- obviously I'm trying to understand the basis for the allocation, and I think that if it's not too much work that will help.

Now, there will be a bunch of other items not included in these examples, and as I said before, I know you're working on that undertaking response.  What I'm struggling -- and I don't fault you out for not having the response yet, but I may want to understand the rationale for these other, in some sense, common undertakings and the allocation of those costs, so I'm assuming I can ask panel 5 about whatever else is on that list that we might have an interest in, and if they don't know I'm happy to take an undertaking, rather than having the undertaking expanded.  I assume you would like to get it filed.  I'd just really like to see it, so --


MR. KEIZER:  Let me just have a moment then.  I'll --


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  Thank you.

MR. SAAGI:  So with these projects the costs that we're capturing, for instance, for Unit 2, they are the costs that the unit -- that are required for Unit 2, and they will be placed in service as they're used and useful for Unit 2.  So in February 2020.  If there is an ancillary benefit to a subsequent unit, you know, that charge has already been captured in Unit 2, because it was required for Unit 2 to bring back to service.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, no, I understand that, thank you.

MR. SAAGI:  So I guess I just wanted to clarify, we're not allocating costs per se.  We're capturing the cost of Unit 2 in Unit 2 and in placing those costs in service in February 2020.  There might be some downstream benefits which the other units might take advantage of, but the costs are still required for Unit 2, and as such they're declared in service.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, no, I appreciate your answer.

MR. SAAGI:  You were just talking about accounting, so I just thought --


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, no, I appreciate that's your position.  I guess what we're doing is testing that on some of these --


MR. SAAGI:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  -- specifics, but I appreciate that's...

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think that it's -- that panel -- panel 5 can look at, in terms of rate base additions and aspects of rate base, but the actual attributes of the asset related to Unit 2 or common to Unit 2 or otherwise I think is -- this is the appropriate panel, and to the extent that they don't know, then, as they have indicated, you will have to frame the undertaking to assist you, but I think this is the appropriate panel to --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that's fine, Madam Chair.  I just want to clarify this so we're not left with a gap to the extent this is helpful for you.  It's certainly helpful for me.

For Undertaking J2.9, which was the one given previously to list the other projects, of which these are examples, I've gone over the examples with you.  I wonder if, with respect to the other projects -- and I know you're finalizing this response now, but would it be possible to hold that back long enough for anything we haven't talked about just to provide, you know, two or three sentences just as we have with these, the nature of the projects as it underscores the rationale for the allocation why it's being allocated prior to Unit 2, with Unit 2, or in some cases perhaps spread -- and maybe "allocated" is the wrong word, Mr. Saagi, but the cost is being spread across all the units.  Would that be possible?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that's fine, yeah.

MR. MONDROW:  That would be great.  That would solve a timing issue, so I appreciate that.  So maybe to track it we'll get an undertaking for that, but I assume that will be answered with reference to the earlier response.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  J5.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  TO ADVISE ON THE NATURE OF THE PROJECTS AS IT UNDERSCORES THE RATIONALE FOR THE ALLOCATION WHY IT'S BEING ALLOCATED PRIOR TO UNIT 2, WITH UNIT 2, OR IN SOME CASES SPREAD ACROSS ALL THE UNITS.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  So pending that, I'm going to not pursue these last questions, but with one exception -- which again may be an undertaking.

So there was some discussion with Mr. Buonaguro on Friday regarding the dynamic process under which the risk register, as a living document, tracks risk.

And as I understand it, the risk register gets added to as new risks become apparent.  As risks close, that gets noted.  There is not a continuity in the each publication of the risk register, because that would be infinite, or at least cumbersome.

So whenever you draw the register, whenever you access it and print it or store it, you get a description with some historical information.  Have I got that kind of right, Mr. Reiner?

You were talking about this on Friday.  That's what I understood from reading the transcript.

MR. ROSE:  I think it was myself talking about this.  We have a risk management oversight we call an RMO tool, which is a database which stores all of our records.  And within each record, there is some traceability, some -- the system tracks changes made to certain fields, by whom, and on which date.  But our reporting is basically the status at a current point in time.

So we manage our risk register, risks that are currently there including the -- in the current contingency.  We track whether or not those risks close, whether they trigger, and where there are any new risks that come to be, we'll add those into the database as well.

MR. MONDROW:  Let me give a concrete example.  There is an interrogatory, SEC 026, and two of the attachments to that interrogatory response are two iterations of the risk register, so the risk register at two points in time, the first that was used for the Monte Carlo simulation, the second at the time of the response.

If I look at the second of those, will I be able to trace back the various additions and modifications of the risk register over time?

I had thought that you get a snapshot, you can compare the two, but you can't track back comprehensively.  And the reason I'm asking that is I wondered if we could get a third, more up-to-date, one since the IRs are some time ago.  It's not a lot of pages; I think it's 80 odd pages electronically, just so we can see how the process you described, Mr. Rose, to Mr. Buonaguro impacts the risk register over time.  So we would have three examples rather than just the two.


MR. ROSE:  So you have to remember that we have now committed to delivering this project for $4.8 billion, including $677 million of contingency, right.  That contingency is built up through reasonable approach and understanding the risks that we need to manage within the project.

There will be additions to risk, there will be removals of risk.  But at the end of the day, we must deliver the project -- our high confidence is we will deliver the project within that envelope of funds we have into it.


MR. MONDROW:  When you say you must, why is that?  You have a variance account, right?

MR. ROSE:  I said we have high confidence we will deliver the project within $4.8 billion including the contingency amount.


MR. MONDROW:  But if you don't, you'll be back asking for the balance on the basis you acted prudently, presumably.


MR. ROSE:  Yes, but we're still driven to the project at the best value possible, the lowest cost possible.  And we believe, based on the reasonable approach we've taken, that at a 90 percent confidence level, that the $4.8 billion is a reasonable number.


MR. MONDROW:  At a 90 percent confidence level, I think you can say that with some confidence.


MR. ROSE:  I think at $3.4 billion to go, the contingency is 677, is about 20 percent, which I think is very reasonable for a project of this nature and considering -- if you consider and compare that to the Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering, at this level of classification which is a maximum of 30 percent, I think it's quite reasonable.


MR. MONDROW:  We'll engage in that debate, I guess, in due course.

In the meantime, what should I take from that explanation in respect of my request for another version of the risk register, so we can see how it gets modified?  Does that answer that?


MR. ROSE:  We can run the risk register -- we can reprint the risk register again as it stands today, if that's what you're looking for.


MR. MONDROW:  That's what I was asking for yes.


MR. ROSE:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  That would be J5.7?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.7:  TO PROVIDE THE MOST CURRENT VERSION OF THE RISK REGISTER


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair, for your patience.  And, panel, thank you for your answers.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  The Panel has a few questions for you.

Questions by the Board:

MS. SPOEL:  On Friday, during Mr. Richler's cross-examination, there was some discussion about bringing up staff complements and numbers of FTEs and so on.  And one of the comments -- and I can't remember which one on the panel made it -- was that you track the costs not by the number of employees, but you track the labour inputs and Whatever -- not by the number of employees that are OPG employees, but by the dollars that it costs to have those employees, and if you don't have your own staff, that you will use contracted staff to fill the gaps as needed.

And what I was wondering is have you done any  analysis of whether it costs OPG more or less to use contracted staff when required?  Is it neutral?  Do you have any analysis of the overall impact on your budget of doing that?

MR. REINER:  We do have costs associated with different types of resources, and that does weigh into the decision-making.

Now at types, there may be a need to bring some specialized technical resource in that the company just doesn't have, in which case you have no choice but to procure it via a contract.  So setting that aside, there is in essence a business case analysis that goes into the strategy for how we resource the project.


In general, if I were to summarize sort of what that tells you, when an employee becomes an OPG employee, we incur a pension burden, a benefits burden.  And if they are working in a unionized position, there are also rules that restrict our ability to actually eliminate those staff.

So there are some provisions in our collective agreements that allow to us bring in temporary staff for short durations, but they're somewhat limited.  So when we look to bring in resources for short periods of time, the business case tells you it is better to bring them in via contract because you can off-board them very, very quickly.  If they are resources needed for the duration of the project, it is better to hire them as regular resources and then deal with the issue of off-boarding at the end of the project.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I had one other question that just came up a few minutes ago, and that was in reference to the comments by Mr. Rose about the difference between -- this is on page 55 of Mr. Mondrow's compendium, where he was talking about that work that needs to be completed directly for Unit 2 and work that is common to two or more units.

I'm not quite sure I understood the distinction, because I think -- and perhaps you can clarify this for me.  You said things that need to be completed directly for Unit 2 is work required in order for Unit 2 to proceed; that was my understanding of what you said.

But with respect to the work that was common to two or more units, you said, well, we would put the costs into the first of those units for which it was required.

And I'm not sure what the difference is between the two of those if in fact the ones that directly for Unit 2 might also be of benefit for the other units.  Is there -- what's the difference between those two, or is it just two different ways of saying the same thing?

MR. ROSE:  Maybe I need to back up for a second here, and just say a couple things.  There are three projects that are paired, that go into pairs.  In essence, construction support trailers.

When those go into service on Unit 2, so they're needed for Units 2 and 4, which is in the west side of the plant, they will go in service with the first unit they're there to support, and the same for the two on the other side.  So Unit 3 will come before 4, so the trailers being done on the east side of the plant will go into service with Unit 3.


For all the other stuff, like the work control trailers, they will go in service -- they're supporting all four units, and they'll go in service with the first unit they're used on, which is Unit 2.  Does that help?


MS. SPOEL:  What you're really saying is that for anything, if it's needed for Unit 2, if any aspect of it is needed for Unit 2 -- or if it is needed for -- I should put it that way.


If it is needed in order to complete the work on Unit 2 you put it in service with Unit 2, if it has -- whether it's a common unit or some other kind of unit, if it has a spill-over benefit for the other units, you would use it again, but it won't go back -- it will not have to go into the in service cost based for those units because you've already put it in for Unit 2.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Essentially anything that's required for Unit 2 goes to Unit 2, as opposed to some kind of allocation among them.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Fine.  Thank you.  Those are all...

MS. LONG:  I just had one question, and it's something that you've discussed with many people over the last few days, and it's in respect of the risk register.  You just had a bit of a discussion with Mr. Mondrow about this.  And Dr. Galloway in her report, page 68, talks about the process involved in coming up with the risk register.

But I guess my question to you is, this is identified as a high-risk project, but I'm wondering, who is vetting the risks that you've come up with?  So where is the tension in the system that you're identifying risks, but how are you ensuring that these are the appropriate risks for what you're about to undertake?

MR. REINER:  Maybe I'll start, and I'll ask Mr. Rose to chime in.  So there are project managers in conjunction with working with the contractors and looking at the details of the scope of work that gets executed, ultimately have accountability for looking at, what are all the things that could potentially go wrong in implementing that work.

We then have internally on the project a risk oversight committee.  The risk oversight committee spans across the leadership team.  The vice-president of engineering is part of that, the vice-president of controls, the vice-president of project assurance, myself, the vice-president of execution.

So as a risk oversight committee we require reviews to be conducted.  We'll do them on a project-by-project basis.  We'll also do reviews that just look at, what are the next sort of critical evolutions in front of us on the project and we take a look at the risks.  So that's one element.

In addition to that we have -- we have also implemented what we call a first of a kind and first in a while risk review, so for any scope of work that has never been done before at Darlington or any scope of work that hasn't been executed in many, many years, potentially since the initial construction of the plant, we do specific risk reviews.

We'll bring into those reviews expertise also from across the nuclear fleet.  And from time to time we may bring in external technical expertise to help us review those risks, again with the objective being to understand what the potential impacts may be and then what the reasonable mitigation actions are that we should be working on and the extent to which those should begin to get executed.

The whole process rolls up inside OPG through OPG's risk process.  We have a chief risk officer.  They assess and review our risk management program, and also sit in on risk oversight committee meetings and then apply an independent judgment on what types of risks should make their way up to the corporate level that the executive leadership team would look at and would discuss, and there is a corporate risk oversight committee as well that discusses those risks.

And then also the external oversight agencies that we bring on like the Refurbishment Construction Review Board, other review boards that the nuclear operations business utilizes, they will from time to time identify potential issues and risks and will make recommendations on where in the risk register they ought to be in terms of profile and review, and we would look at those recommendations and factor that into our process as well.

So that is sort of top to bottom how the risk process works.  So starts with kind of the project team, but then expands across the company with input from external technical expertise as well.

MS. LONG:  And does that flow both ways, so the extern -- I'm more interested in the external review of your risks.  Do they not only identify risks but say to you that they think perhaps you've identified a risk that isn't there?  Does it go both ways?

MR. REINER:  It does, and I could give you an example.  We're part of the Construction Industry Institute, and that institute does forecasts, sort of national forecasts of trades utilization across Canada, and they provide input to us and give us indicators on what they are seeing in terms of potential shortfalls in certain specific trades, and that would be an input into our risk register as something that we need to be aware of, we need to understand, and then look at what mitigating actions can we take to not get caught with a shortfall in a specific trade, for example.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rose, anything to add?

MR. ROSE:  No, I was going to add that this year the corporate risk office is very involved in our process, so we have a member of that team that pretty much is with us at least one to two days a week.  We also -- our risk manager also participates in a cross-functional risk management meeting at the CRO level.

So we've kind of -- even though there is a strong, solid reporting relationship within my organization, that organization itself has a very tight cross-functional reporting relationship with our corporate risk office.

The Burns & McDonnell/Modus team, who is our oversight on behalf of our board of directors, they have got one individual that, his sole function is on risk management.  So every time he comes in and looks at us, he looks at our process, are we adhering to our process, are there any gaps that are going on with known risks from the executing projects, and really challenges to make sure that we're applying those mitigation factors appropriately.

MR. REINER:  I'll maybe just give you one last example of where an external risk may come in, so we also do -- parts of our company also assess the financial viability of our contractors.  So if we see something in their financial statements or their publicly released financials that tell us that we need to be cautious, that would also be an external input into a potential risk mitigation plan that we would execute on the project.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all our questions.

Mr. Keizer, any redirect?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, we have no redirect.

MS. LONG:  All right then.  Thank you very much, panel.  You're excused.

MR. ROSE:  Thank you.

MR. REINER:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Are you in a position now to present the settlement proposal?
Presentation of the Settlement Proposal by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  I am, Madam Chair.  If you wish us to proceed now or after a break, but otherwise I'm ready to go.

So as you're aware, the parties began settlement discussions in early January, and they filed with the Board -- or OPG filed with the Board a -- on January 30th a settlement proposal, and as we noted this morning with respect to preliminary matters, we discovered a drafting issue which required us to file an amendment, which we have filed, and has been consented to by the parties that were a party to the settlement proposal filed on January 30th, and I'll deal with those changes or amendments when I deal with the specific issues that they relate to, which is issues 9.1, 9.2, and 9.3.

But that material is before you now.  And I believe copies were provided.  Do you have copies of the amendment?

MS. LONG:  We do have a copy, yes, thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  As I say, I will take you through those changes probably more applicably when I deal with those specific issues.

So I guess first, I mean, the way that the settlement proposal is organized, it was organized in accordance with the finalized issues list, the prioritized issues list that arose from Procedural Order No. 6.  And so the parties were able to reach agreement with respect to some of the issues which we were able -- which were available for settlement.

We have settled in full or in part nine of the issues, including two primary issues and seven secondary issues that are before the proceeding.

We've also identified, as you'll see from the proposal, the supporting evidence in respect of those issues.  And the parties feel that there is sufficient support for the settlement proposal in relation to those settled and partially settled issues.


And that evidence, together with any supporting rationale, we feel is sufficient for the OEB to make a finding on the issue as part of the proposal.

Now, the settlement proposal that's before you on these settled or partially settled issues is a package, and there are no provisions for severability.  They do come together to you as a settlement package by the parties.

In the settlement proposal that's filed, and I believe it's at page 7 of the settlement proposal, there is identification of each of the issues that were either partially settled or settled, and they're set out there in a list.

I didn't -- unless you otherwise want me to -- intend to go through each and every one of the issues as an overview, particularly those that are fully settled, I wasn't going to because I think they are clear on their face with respect to the issue itself and the element fully settled with respect to that issue.

I did want to touch on the partially settled issues because of the fact that there's elements which obviously are settled, but other elements remain open and available for consideration in the context of the hearing.  And therefore, I think it's important for you to, as part of the review of the settlement proposal, have insight into as much as what has been settled, but also what remains outstanding in respect of that particular issue.

Taking you then firstly to the partially settled issue, which is issue 3.2, which was are OPG's proposed costs for the long-term and short-term components of its capital structure appropriate.

In this circumstance, OPG, as it's noted, seeks to recover the costs of long-term and short-term debt associated with its regulated operations, and the parties have agreed that the interest rates used to calculate OPG's proposed debt costs are appropriate.

But that's subject to obviously a caveat, given the fact that it's a partial settlement and that as stated there, it says given that the aggregate debt costs related to OPG's capital structure and rate base, which are unsettled as primary issues, that the parties agree that their acceptance in respect of issue 3.2 is subject to the application of the agreed interest rates to the eventual debt that's financed, the financed component of the rate base.

In other words, to the extent that you are looking at the capital structure, the interest rates are agreed to, but the ultimate eventual debt finance component is yet to be resolved in the context of that capital structure.

The other partial settled issue is issue 6.3, which is the forecast of nuclear fuel costs, and is the forecast of nuclear fuel costs appropriate.  So OPG seeks to recover its nuclear fuel cost for the term.  But as we note in the settlement proposal, the fuel costs include the weighted average cost of manufactured fuel bundles, which is nuclear fuel bundle cost, the used fuel storage, and the disposal Costs.


So the settlement proposal focuses on the nuclear fuel bundle cost, only one of those components of the three, and that part is driven by energy production and the unit cost of new fuel loaded and fuel utilization efficiencies.

So what the settlement does on a partial basis is that the parties have agreed on a 2 percent downward adjustment on the nuclear fuel bundle unit cost forecast.  So looking at the fuel bundle unit costs, and those numbers were decreased by the 2 percent downward adjustment as reflected in the five bullets you see appearing in the settlement proposal.

The other components of the fuel cost forecast that impact on the fuel energy production of nuclear fuel bundle costs, all of the components used for nuclear -- of used nuclear fuel cost and fuel oil cost are unsettled, but the nuclear fuel bundle cost is settled as a result of the 2 percent downward decrease.


So one component is settled; the remainder remains open for consideration.

The other area that reflects a partial settlement is in respect of issues 9.1, 9.2, and 9.3, and here actually is where I can deal with the slight change we made to the settlement proposal based upon the information filed today.  And the element, I guess, that -- taking you to 9.1, let me deal first with the intent behind the section or behind the issue, and then I can also deal with the nature of the change that brought about the amendment.

So issue 9.1, which is a primary issue, is that the nature and type of cost recorded in the deferral and variance accounts are appropriate -- are they appropriate.  And what parties have agreed to do is they have agreed that the nature and type of costs recorded in the year-end 2015 balances in the deferral and variance accounts are appropriate on the basis of the evidence filed, except for three accounts which are excluded from the parties' settlement on the issue.  And those three accounts are set out in the bullets as shown: capacity refurbishment, variance account, the nuclear deferral account, and the  Bruce lease net revenues variance account.

The original filing indicated that with respect to the capacity refurbishment variance account, it said it was applicable to the hydroelectric and nuclear.  But in actual fact, it should only be related to the nuclear component, and the words hydroelectric and were struck.

MS. LONG:  Can I step back there for a moment, Mr. Keizer?  In respect of attachment 1, which has a list of all the accounts, the parties are in agreement with all of those accounts save for the three you've delineated?

MR. KEIZER:  In respect the year-end 2015 balances for the nature and type of cost.  And in 9.2, similarly it relates to the methodology.  A comparable agreement is in respect of that where -- and to make sure that it's parallel as part of the amendment in 9.2, we included the wording that OPG for recording costs in the deferral and variance accounts to and including December 31, 2015, that's the inclusion that became part of the amendment this morning, that they are appropriate for the basis of OPG's evidence except for the accounts.  And again the same three accounts and the words that were originally in the original proposal "hydroelectric" and in the parentheses behind the capacity and refurbishment variance account were struck as part of the amendment.

And the reason why that change was made is because in 9.3, in which there were no changes made, is because the parties had agreed that the proposed year-end 2015 balances for recovery in each of the deferral and variance accounts are appropriate on the basis of OPG's evidence.  There it was, except for the pension and OPEB cash versus accrual differential deferral account, for reasons dealt that are dealt with otherwise, and also for the following accounts -- again, the capacity refurbishment variance account, the nuclear liability and the Bruce lease.

And in the original proposal filed, it only related to the nuclear component, which was the nature of the agreement was.  So it couldn't be that you could disagree on the nature and type of cost, but agree to pay it out under 9.3.  So it was a drafting oversight and as a result, was corrected by the amendment.  But effectively, the parties are agreeing to dispose of the 2015 balances for recovery in those accounts, all accounts except for those otherwise stated in 9.3.

Those are the issues which are partially settled within the proposal.  The remainder of the issues are settled in full.  I wasn't going to go through each of them unless you otherwise would like me to do so.  But other than that, if there are any questions, those are our submissions on the settlement proposal.

MS. LONG:  There are a number of intervenors here.  Do they have anything to add?  No?  And Mr. Millar, do you have anything to say about the Board Staff submission?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I don't, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

I don't believe we have any questions, so we will take this away to consider.  Thank you for that presentation.

And we are going to take our afternoon break now for 15 minutes.  And Mr. Keizer, if you can have Dr. Galloway up and ready to go, that would be great.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:39 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:59 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Thanks, Madam Chair.  We're moving on to the testimony of Dr. Patricia Galloway, and I will introduce you to Dr. Galloway, who now at the witness position.  So I ask that she be affirmed.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 1C

Patricia Galloway, Affirmed
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Dr. Galloway, a report prepared by you dated July 2016 has been filed in this proceeding at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 11, attachment 3, is that correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Also attached to that report, starting at page 84, is your CV, is that correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  With respect to your report set out at that exhibit and attachment as well as your CV, and also including any interrogatory responses that you provided a response to, or any other undertakings in respect of the technical conference -- I'm not sure if there was or not -- that you may have been involved in, are they accurate and to the best of your knowledge and understanding?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Do you adopt the evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And according to your CV, you are president and chief executive officer of Pegasus Global Holdings Inc., is that correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I consulted with my friends in the room in advance of Dr. Galloway's testimony as to her qualifications.  I'm quite happy to go through her qualifications and I will touch on elements of her CV anyway.  But I believe that no one has voiced an objection to accept her as a witness as an expert in megaprojects and megaprograms, including execution, planning, risk management, prudence in project controls, which is the nature of which her testimony will be given.  I'll reintroduce that at the end, but I think that parties are prepared to accept that as a qualification.

But if I could, based on your CV at page 84 of attachment 3, it indicates that your experience and expertise centres on megaprojects and programs, and your CV states that you have consulted on matters covering the entire project delivery process in energy and infrastructure industries, and do work on behalf of public and private sectors globally.

In a general way, can you describe the nature of your work in this regard as it relates to the matters before this Board?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.  Over the last 38 years of my experience, I have primarily been focused on megaprojects and that advice has been given to both owners, public utility commissions, utilities, private contractors, engineers, on some of the largest projects.

Over 30 of those are nuclear power plants, upon which I have been consulting since approximately 1982.  In the types of services that I have performed, I look at what I would call cradle to grave type of project execution, that is all the way from looking at financing a project as to what the risks are or are not for the financer, to looking at an owner deciding to do the project, to looking at the decision to do that project.  And once a decision has been, made advising boards of directors and senior management as to the risks and profiles of those risks, of what risks were identified, how they fit, and whether or not they are applicable then to a decision from the undertaker to proceed with that project or not.

Looking then at the preplanning of projects, I look at the governance, the structure, the policies, the procedures, the plan for execution, how risks will be looked at, how project controls will be set up, how they will be implemented throughout the project, and determine whether or not they conform to industry best practices, and recommendations as to any improvements that can be made if that is my scope of work.  Or asking, on the other hand, if there are differences as they stand to industry best practices, what those might be.

I then follow into the execution of looking at how megaprograms and megaprojects specifically are executed, looking at the management, the qualifications of the personnel, and again how they are then implementing those policies and procedures and project control and risk management systems.

In the energy sector, which is power generation transmission distribution in oil and gas, also looking into the start-up in commissioning of all of those units as to whether that has been properly planned and implemented and executed.

And finally, on the nuclear side of things, even in the decommissioning side of that and how decommissioning has been planned on nuclear power plants that have reached their useful life and are being decommissioned.

Those types of reviews have also resulted in performance audits and performance management audits.  These are usually done for very large governments, or governments that have very large capital improvement programs, to determine how their capital improvement programs can be improved.  Then prudence audits in the regulated utility world, and that is looking at decisions made at the time and whether those decisions were reasonable and prudent based on what was known or reasonably should have been known at the time the decision was made.

And then finally, the last part of what I have been working on is independent monitoring, where actually we've been retained by the commission and the utility jointly to monitor an ongoing project and report regularly back to the commission and the utility as to the ongoing process of a particular energy project as it's moving through its execution.

And I think that covers the gamut of what I've done over the last 38 years.

MR. KEIZER:  And at pages 85 and 86 of your CV, there are also various professional designations set out there, and that includes professional engineer in multiple U.S. and Canadian locations, is that correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Your CV has an extensive list of publications and articles that you have written and prepared in various elements of dealing with megaprograms and megaprojects.  In particular, at page 90 of your CV,  it includes a book entitled "Managing Giga Projects - Advice from Those Who've Been There, Done That".

Can you describe the nature of that text and how its content relates to the matters before the Board?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.  In an effort to -- the industry has been looking at how to improve the execution planning and execution of megaprojects, and there were three of us from our company that decided to pull together industry experts from all sectors, from the financers, to owners, to designers, to designers, to program management overseers, to bring them this together to share their experiences for best practices and how megaprojects and megaprograms could be improved.

So the text basically covers everything from what a financer looks at to a megaprogram and whether to invest in it, to the governance structure, to the risk management elements of how to look at a megaproject, to project controls, to design, to construction execution, all the way through even on handling disputes that may arise on a megaprogram, and then the discussion of how megaprojects are viewed in different areas of the world.  And I think that is a cover of the text of that book.

MR. KEIZER:  I won't obviously take you through any of the publications you've done, but you have done publications in the area of management prudence and performance audits, program or project management, as well as risk management; is that correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And the items listed in your CV that are accurate representation of the work you've done in that area.

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I've asked, actually, if I could have put up on the screen just -- my only time ever calling an interrogatory, but anyway, SEC 40, page 1 of attachment 1, and as part of that interrogatory you were asked about various proceedings or tribunals which you have appeared before or dealt with, and on there is a schedule which you will see on the far side is the plant that was related, the jurisdiction that was applicable, and the appropriate commission, and then there are a series of columns which deal with testimony arbitration, regulatory expert, advisory, and prudence as well.

And I'm wondering, not to go through all of those elements, but can you, if you could, highlight some of the work you've done in relation to the regulatory and prudence evaluation aspects of this table?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes, and I may qualify because I believe it was in your question, but this interrogatory was specifically on my nuclear expertise, so it does not include the other projects, megaprojects, of which I may have given testimony or done prudence evaluations on that particularly were not nuclear.

I won't go through all, because some are very similar, but I think what I would like to do is to identify those that have limited scope and also give those that are different and similar in scope, so that I think there will be an understanding of what's on the table.

So looking at the first item on the Levy units, that work was done on behalf of Progress Energy.  That was a very limited prudence evaluation of one decision.  That was a prudence evaluation of the decision to continue with Levy, but yet to defer all the work except for that work that was relative to a combined operation licence and to amend the EPC contract with those -- that particular work scope amended.

So that centred around that work scope of mine.  One interesting element of that which is different than the other regulated utility aspects that are on here is, that is one of the few times where I guess I was fortunate that all of the parties stipulated to the testimony, and so I actually didn't have to go to the hearing and the Commission adopted it and it went into the decision.  So that was an unusual situation.

If we move down to the Vogtle plant.  Now, Vogtle I did not provide testimony on, but I thought it was important to indicate what my involvement was.  That again was a limited prudence evaluation.  That was the evaluation of the reasonableness of the planning part of Vogtle for its application for certificate of public need and necessity, called a CPCN, where a utility in this state must make an application to have approval from the commission to proceed with a project.

And so that prudence evaluation was looking at the decisions and the process leading up to the application to file the CPCN.

Vogtle 1 and 2, on the other hand, was a full prudence review of the entire planning, execution, implementation throughout the Vogtle 1 and 2 nuclear plant.  So that's why they're different.  I thought it would be important to distinguish those two differences between that plant.  And that was done on behalf of Georgia Power.

The ones that are related to Millstone 3 and Comanche Peak and Clinton and also the Perry nuclear plant, all of those in which I testified were full prudence audits that looked from the decision to build the plant all the way through the planning and execution, and all of those audits were done on behalf of the Public Utility Commission as the Public Utility Commission's auditor.

And then if we look at the ones that involve South Texas and -- South Texas was the full prudence audit that was done on behalf of the utility, Northeast Utilities, and then the others relative to testimony that I would like to point out that were not regulatory, there were still audits done that looked at the reasonableness and the prudency of management decisions, but they were for different applications other than a regulatory proceeding, which is why it has, like, arbitration litigation with X's versus an X in the regulatory column.  The regulatory column means that it was for a regulated utility in front of a commission.  The arbitration or litigation was a different jurisdiction and different forum.  So for example, on Millstone 3 outages, that was actually on behalf of Northeast Utilities that actually called me to testify based on the findings that I had as the Commission's auditor relative to some matters in the Millstone outage that ensued later after it was up and running.  And that was a matter between a co-owner and Northeast Utilities that was in an arbitration.

Similarly, if we look down at the Shoreham nuclear plant, that was not an audit done for either the utility or the commission.  It was an audit done by the program management company that had a suit against them from the utility due to disallowances on the Shoreham nuclear plant, and that testimony that I gave looked at the reasonableness and prudency of the utility and the program manager.  It was deposition testimony.

After that testimony was given, there was a filing for a summary judgment motion which was accepted, and that case ended at that point in time in favour of the program management owner.

Similarly, Cooper in Nebraska was for the Nebraska Public Power District, but it was a lawsuit between co-owners relative to the prudency of their construction of the Cooper nuclear plant, and that then was testimony given in state court.

And then finally, looking down at North -- sorry, Seabrook, one of those, that was for Northeast Utilities, again based on the testimony that was given on the Seabrook nuclear plant on behalf of the Connecticut Commission that we had given relative to a suit with a co-owner on the Seabrook nuclear plant.

And then the only other items that I would mention just because of context and not because I gave testimony, but the prudence evaluation done on Diablo Canyon was for the California Attorney General, and the testimony that was given by Pegasus that I also worked on for the Waterford nuclear generating station was for the City of New Orleans.

So I think that gives some context as to what was done in those particular evaluations.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Dr. Galloway.

Madam Chair, I would ask that the Board accept the witness as an expert in megaprojects and megaprograms, including execution planning of risk management, prudence, and project controls.

MS. LONG:  I see that there are many intervenors in the room, and I think Mr. Keizer has said that no one is challenging Dr. Galloway's expertise in these areas; is that correct?

MR. MONDROW:  I think that's correct, Madam Chair, although I do intend to ask Dr. Galloway about this prudence term and the scope of that, so I don't raise an objection at this moment, but I just want to be clear that I think that term has yet to be defined in the context of her expertise.

MR. KEIZER:  Understood.  So in other words, it's more a clarification of what is intended by it and -- but not necessarily her qualifications in terms of being able to comment about megaprojects and megaprograms; is that correct?

MR. MONDROW:  That's correct.  Although I guess it depends a bit on what she says is intended by the term.  But I don't quibble with her engineering expertise.  It's formidable.  And her project management knowledge is formidable.  My concern is the nexus between that and the regulatory standard, and that's what I intend to explore.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  So I don't raise an objection, but I want to be clear now so there is no --


MS. LONG:  No, thank you for raising that.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have a similar comment.  I don't object to Ms. Galloway being qualified as an expert in megaprojects, and project controls, and project management.  Its a the prudence, which is essentially a legal conclusion that the Board will come to, so just understanding what is meant by that.

I don't think a lot comes of it, but I would --

MR. KEIZER:  Is it fair to ask Dr. Galloway now what her understanding of the treatment of prudence when she uses the word prudence, as to what the context of the prudence review she would have done and the parameters of it?

MS. LONG:  Are you asking to have her qualified with respect to prudence as the Board uses it in doing our review?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  I think that ultimately, it's more in terms of an objective -- it's my understanding, and Dr. Galloway maybe can correct me if I'm wrong, that the prudence reviews she would do would be an objective view as to the aspects that were taken out -- taken on during the steps undertaken by the regulated entity, let's say, and those steps at the time, from a megaproject/megaprogram management perspective, that they were prudent and reasonable.

I think ultimately the aspect of -- the final arbiter of what is prudent or not prudent obviously is yours.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I could, since I'm one of the counsel that raised this.  I appreciate Mr. Keizer's attempt to be helpful.  I don't think he should give evidence about what Dr. Galloway means.  And I know he is not intend doing that.

The correct process at this point, I might suggest, is if the hearing panel wants to dispose of the boundaries of this term now is for the counsel concerned to ask Dr. Galloway questions about that term and her meaning of that term.

MS. LONG:  Are you prepared to do that now?

MR. MONDROW:  I'm prepared do that.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine with me.  I'm happy to have it on the record.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Dr. Galloway, hello.  I had hoped for a more congenial start, but I'll take it as it comes.

I want to focus on this issue and come back to it in due course, I am sure.

I am counsel for the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario; pleased to meet you this way.

When you talk about prudence audits, you also used the term prudence evaluations.  I'm assuming what you mean is that you examine the reasonableness of the decisions made in project execution from a commercial perspective as opposed to making a regulatory or legal determination for inclusion of costs and rates.  Is that a fair assumption?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubinstein, are you satisfied with that answer?  You have nothing further to question, all right.

The panel is prepared to accept Dr. Galloway as an expert as you have defined clearly for the record, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  If I may, I have a few more questions in direct related -- particularly with respect to the report that Dr. Galloway prepared for the purposes of this proceeding.

Dr. Galloway, without going into significant detail, can you give the Board a brief review of the key points of your evidence?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.  Based on the review that Pegasus Global undertook of OPG's organization, its structure, its policies, its procedures, its project controls, its risk management and assessment, and based on the interviews of OPG personnel, I found that OPG had reasonably and prudently prepared itself for the execution of the Darlington refurbishment project.

Secondly, I found that OPG, in its approach to this megaprogram, is that as is typically found in the planning of other megaprograms in which I am familiar.  The extensive preplanning that was conducted for the Darlington refurbishment program favourably positions OPG to successfully execute the DRP.

That extensive preplanning included extensive lessons learned from other refurbishment projects, from other nuclear programs, from other megaprograms.  It included the use and application and development of industry best practices into its policies, procedures, and project control systems, of which I found that to be reasonable.  And its preparation of a detailed estimate and schedule that was based on a thorough and robust probabilistic model, OPG established a P90 confidence level and an appropriate contingency.  That basically means that there would be a 90 percent probability that the Darlington project will come in within the estimated cost and schedule, and I found that process in that P90 and the allocation to be reasonable.

MR. KEIZER:  Were there any limitations on the scope of your study?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.  The scope only looked at the preplanning approach of the governance and the structure, and policies and procedures, and project controls for the risk for the Darlington refurbishment program.  It did not look at the actual implementation of that planning.

Our report was cut off in July of 2016, so there has not been any review post July 2016.  And further, while we looked at contracting methodology as part of that pre-execution planning, we were not retained to look at the specifics of any of the terms and conditions contained within those contracts that have been executed for the DRP.

MR. KEIZER:  What process for purposes of analysis did you undertake to reach the conclusions set out in your report?

DR. GALLOWAY:  We looked at -- we had document requests that we made of OPG, of documents and documentation that we would expect to see.  We went through the organizational structure.  We went through how the governance was to be handled of the DRP.  We reviewed the policies and the procedures and the project control systems.

We went through other documentation that was used for the pre-execution planning of the DRP.  We looked at the risk management and how those risks were identified and used in the -- for not only the P confidence level, but also how it was looking at its risk going forward.

We then -- upon review of that documentation, we then conducted interviews of OPG project personnel in order to gain a better understanding of how not only were those policies and procedures and processes adopted in accordance with industry best practices, but what their understanding was of how they would be implementing and using those policies and procedures and processes during the execution of the Darlington program.

And from that, we made our assessment relative to how those policies, procedures, and processes and risk stood against industry best practices, utility industry practice, and the understanding of the personnel that would be using those in the execution of the program.

MR. KEIZER:  I assume you've read the report of Mr. Ken Roberts of Schiff Hardin, Exhibit M1.  What are the primary differences between your report and that of Mr. Roberts?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I think the differences of Mr. Roberts report and mine primarily around scope differences of what we were asked to do.

For example, Mr. Roberts did a detailed review of the terms and conditions of contracts.  We were not asked to do that.

I also believe that Mr. Roberts did not do an assessment of the content of the policies and procedures, as so stated in his report, but rather looked at the development of those policies and procedures in accordance with industry best practices.  We did assess the content of those in relationship to industry best practices.

Mr. Roberts gives some evidence relative to staffing and how he believed that the staffing may not have been up to the planned staffing.  We, on the other hand, looked at the staffing at the point of time within what I would call a zone of reasonableness, and while it was not to the plan at the time of our review, we felt that it was within the
-- where it should be at that point in time.

Mr. Roberts did not conduct interviews of OPG
personnel, and we did, which I think provided some context to those questions, and I think Mr. Roberts so states in his testimony that because of not doing the interviews he didn't have that context.

And finally, he does a review of various megaprojects that, while we looked at this in context to other megaprograms, we were not asked to specifically comment on different megaprograms, and he makes a statement that we did not make an observation that the majority of megaprograms and projects are over budget and over schedule, and that is true.  We did not make that observation.

And I will comment, though, that the distinction that I would make in that regard is that Mr. Roberts did not indicate why Darlington is different than the projects that he has so stated in his testimony that may lead to that conclusion of why there -- the other projects that are successful megaprojects that are completed on time and on budget and they exist, why they may have similarities to what the DRP has undertaken here.

MR. KEIZER:  And are there conclusions that Mr. Roberts reached that were similar to yours?  And if so, what are they?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes, there were numerous similarities between Mr. Roberts' testimony and mine.  We both make the same overarching conclusion that OPG has reasonably and prudently prepared for the execution of the DRP, and I think that he makes almost the exact same statement that I do.

We have both concluded that the risk management process used by OPG is in accordance with industry best practices and utility industry practices and that it is
a -- was found to be a reasonable process.

We similarly found that the organizational structure, the policies, the procedures, and the project control systems were all found to be within industry best practices and were reasonable that OPG has executed on this -- implemented for execution on the DRP.

We also similarly found that due to there being multiple variables between each megaprogram that it is not reasonable to make an apples-to-apples comparison between different megaprograms, and so we are both in agreement on that conclusion.

And then finally, we both make the observation that, looking at the U.S. jurisdiction in the regulated utility arena, that there is something called a regulatory lag that -- in traditional rate-making practices that existed in the '80s and the '90s, where utilities would proceed with a project and would then seek to recover those monies into rate base at a later time.

And there was significant risk to those investments due to the large nuclear plants that had significant disallowances to them that the utility industry basically stopped building, and in fact Vogtle was the first one after 20 years that restarted.

And Mr. Roberts has so stated in his testimony, as I believe I have stated in mine, that because of that risk of investment and in order for a utility to have more confidence of recovery and for the regulator to have more confidence as to the project going forward, that there have now been pre-approvals of cost estimates to allow projects to be pre-approved before going forward.

And we've both made similar observations and comments on that process in our testimony.

MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Roberts, I believe, in his evidence makes reference to various nuclear projects in his report, and are you familiar with those projects, and if so, what's the -- what is the fundamental difference between those nuclear projects and the Darlington refurbishment program?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Well, he specifically makes comments relative to the Vogtle 3 and 4 project.  On Vogtle 3 and 4 a key difference -- and it involves itself around the new regulatory process in the States, which I believe I described, that a utility must receive a certificate of public need and necessity in order to proceed ahead with its project, because even those dollars are at risk for the preparation of a CPCN.  Vogtle did not have the extensive years of pre-planning and the ability to have what was done here at Darlington before it made its CPCN application.

I think that that is a huge difference, and it is a big difference relative to a lot of the projects that Mr. Roberts has mentioned relative to the difference between those and the DRP.

On Watts Bar that he mentioned, I have also experience with that relative to a lessons learned that was used on the work that I did for Tennessee Valley Authority on Bellefonte and the decision whether or not to proceed with the completion of Bellefonte 1 and 2 or to do new plants on Bellefonte 3 and 4.

And again, Watts Bar was a different situation of sort of a completion restart effort on the nuclear plant, and there were a lot of obstacles similar to plants that I think are some of the lessons learned that Darlington used that -- in its lessons learned that would be applicable here but are different than what the DRP used.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment, Madam Chair.

Dr. Galloway, are you familiar with any other megaprograms in which you've been involved with that also had a P90 confidence level?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes, even though, you know, we don't keep our evidence according to what confidence levels utilities use, there are two projects that I, though, do distinctly remember a P90 confidence level being used, which, one of them is a project that is currently still underway.  It is the Crossrail project in London.  It is approximately 80 percent complete.  It's approximately an 18 billion dollar megaprogram.

We were asked to specifically come in by Her Majesty's Treasury to look at the detailed risk review that had been done and to look at the modelling process and the confidence level and the cost and to identify any issues with that.  We did.  We did a detailed report that we gave to Her Majesty's Treasury that was given to Parliament in its decision-making process relative to Crossrail.

It was actually done at a P95 level, not a P90.  The reason for the P90 to begin with was due to the extreme complexities of the project, but an additional P95 versus 90 was used because, as I'm sure everyone can appreciate, London Underground, full of completely unknowns of hundreds and hundreds of years.  And because of the extreme unknowns in the geo-technical area of the underground tunnels that would need to be done, there was a decision to increase that to a P95.

The other project was, I think I mentioned, on Bellefonte.  We were doing a review of the risk review of the decisions to either complete Bellefonte 1 and 2 or to build a new Bellefonte 3 and 4 to a new AP1000 plant, and those decisions were based on a P90 modelling exercise to determine schedule and cost to look at the decision-making on which decision to do based on the P90 modelling again, given the risks and complexities of both completing a plant that had been sitting there for many, many, many years and to looking at a new design on a new nuclear plant, and that's why the P90 confidence level.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Dr. Galloway.  Madam Chair, those are my questions in direct, and the witness is now available for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  Mr. Mondrow, I believe you're proceeding first.

MR. MONDROW:  I am, thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


Hello again, Dr. Galloway.  First of all, I learned a lot from your very clear and very well articulated report.  So thank you very much for that.  That was a pleasure to read.

I've already talked to you about what you mean prudence, and you've described what you mean by regulatory in response to SEC's interrogatory, so that's very helpful.

I want to ask you about these two projects you just mentioned.  I don't recall seeing those in any of the undertaking responses or evidence filed.  Is that information somewhere on the record, other than what you just said a minute ago?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I do not believe so.  As I indicated, we don't maintain that evidence in our record.  But in my preparation for coming here today, I actually just tried to go back into some of the paperwork that I had, to look to determine whether or not I could find anything under a P90.  And I did find that in the preparation for this over the last -- probably just a few days.

MR. MONDROW:  What prompted to you do that, Dr. Galloway?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I thought it might be a question that might come forth to me.

MR. MONDROW:  Was there any discussion with OPG about that?

DR. GALLOWAY:  It was own preparation.  I mean, I have read the daily transcripts each day, so I saw it was a question that had arisen.  So in my preparation for that, I wanted to make sure whether or not I confirmed whether there was or were not, since I do believe that most of the projects on which I've worked have not had a P90.

So I wanted to double check to see whether or not there were any at all that I could find that I recently worked on, and those are recent experiences that I've undertaken.

MR. MONDROW:  Those are the only two you found in your review that had a P90 or greater?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  You're aware of?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Bear with me since this is somewhat new for a minute or two about each.

The first of the two, the Crossrail project in London, who was it that was funding that project?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That is government.  Parliament gave the approval for that project.  It is funded by the government, and it is currently under budget and ahead of schedule.

MR. MONDROW:  Under budget on a P90 basis, and ahead of schedule on a P90 basis?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the purpose of that review that you undertook was to allow or support the government's decision-making on whether to proceed with the project?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Bellafonte, the Bellafonte decision that you described, or the deliberation that you described, who was your report used by and for what purpose?

DR. GALLOWAY:  The Tennessee Valley Authority's board of directors.

MR. MONDROW:  So the utility's board of directors?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And as I understood your testimony a minute ago, just to recap that decision made by the utility's board of directors was between revitalizing a project on a partially completed nuclear plant versus proceeding with a greenfield alternative nuclear plant?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.  If I could go to your evidence, your report which is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 11, attachment 3, and as I mentioned a minute ago, a few minutes ago your expertise is formidable indeed and I want to make sure I'm understanding the scope of that expertise in respect of the issues that you will be called upon to discuss today and tomorrow.

So if we could look -- I'm not going to read it all, but if we go to page 6 of your report, which I guess is --sorry 11 of attachment 3, and all my references will be in the context of your report.

And if I look at line 24, you kind of encapsulate your expertise and experience as being significant in -- this is page 6 of the report, which is page 11 of the attachment down at the bottom, line 24.  You say this work -- referring back to your extensive background in engineering, construction, et cetera, you say:

"This work includes significant experience in management decision-making, governance evaluations, estimate review and evaluation, contract risk reviews, contract strategy, bidding and bid solicitation for such projects, procurement, design, change review, constructability reviews, project controls, schedule resource loading and activity evaluation, cost control, progress reporting, quality assurance and control start-up and operations commissioning, testing and maintenance,"
and I'll stop and take a breath.  I'm tired reading just your expertise description.

But I gather that you do not purport any expertise on regulated rate-making or rate regulation; is that correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  No, the prudence evaluations are taken with the basis of what the statute is on prudence, and we use that definition in our evaluation of whether the utility was reasonable and prudent.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And in particular, you have no experience, direct experience in making regulatory decisions or supporting the rate recovery determinations and regulatory decisions, in terms of when it's appropriate and how it's appropriate to recover costs.  Is that fair?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I am not quite sure I totally understand the question.  I mean, we do do advisory work for utilities and have also done some advisory work with commissions relative to timing of rate recovery.  That wouldn't be a prudence valuation.  That would be an advisory services that we do.

MR. MONDROW:  I thought we agreed in our prologue that when you talk about prudence, you talk about commercial reasonableness, which may be standard in a regulatory decision.  But you're not opining on the decision; you're opining on the commercial reasonableness of a initiative, a decision, a risk management approach, et cetera?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I understood your last question to say whether I have any experience relative to the advisory on rate-making and when to go forward with rate recovery.  That didn't have prudence in there and I said we do do some advisory work as to timing of potential rate recovery that is not in the context of a prudence review.

MR. MONDROW:  Explain what work that is.

DR. GALLOWAY:  If you're looking at building a plant or you're looking at extending the life of a plant, and trying to determine on cashflows and investment regions and looking at how you're going to have to look at cost recovery, there may be a timing issue of when you -- if you need to go into rate base, whether you need to look for cost of work in progress, called CWIP.

So those are decisions a utility might make relative to its project decision-making.

MR. MONDROW:  We'll talk about the CWIP mechanism in a minute.  So that's what you meant by the nexus --


DR. GALLOWAY:  That's what I meant.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  Bear with me one minute.  I'm using a new application and still getting used to the way this works.  I apologize for the delay.

I want to make sure I have my reference right.  I'm going to look at page 14 of your report, please -- I'm sorry that's not the right reference.  Give me one minute.  I apologize.  This is -- sorry, the pagination is page 14 of the exhibit.  It's page 9 of your report.  That's my mistake.  Report, page 9.

So the bottom bullet on that page -- right there, that's fine, thank you -- this is a part of your conclusion summary, I believe, Dr. Galloway, and you say:

"By performing a detailed cost estimate and schedule based on a thorough and robust probabilistic risk assessment of the program OPG had established a P90 confidence level of the cost to complete the program and established an appropriate level of contingency which, in my opinion, is a reasonable cost estimate."

So was that opining on the P90 choice or was that opining on the robustness of the analysis that determined at a specific confidence level what the estimate would be?

DR. GALLOWAY:  It's all of those.  It's looking at the cost estimate, the schedule, its establishment of the P90, and the appropriate level of contingency.  And I think they're broken down more in the actual body of the evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And when you say "the establishment of the appropriate level of contingency", you're offering an opinion that P90 is the right choice?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I say it's a reasonable choice.

MR. MONDROW:  And what makes it reasonable?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Because of the complexities and the magnitude of this program and the uncertainties of this program and the lessons learned that they have incorporated from the other refurbishment projects, other nuclear projects, looking at megaprograms relative to the extent of how many years they go over, and being able to identify risks that may or may not manifest themselves, but you have to look at in a probabilistic assessment.

I mean, when you do a Monte Carlo probabilistic assessment, what you're doing is you are trying to input as many possible risks that can be identified and included and look at how those potentially affect cost and they affect schedule.  And you run thousands of iterations of those that then provide you with a curve that gives you at any probability of occurring gives you at any -- a probable -- a probability of occurring -- gives you a number for schedule and for cost.

You then have to look at, for instance, as I had indicated, a P90 gives you a 90 percent confidence level probability.  It's a probabilistic model, a 90 percent probability that you will fall within the estimated cost and schedule.

The lessons learned from megaprograms -- and I think this has actually been documented now by other megaprogram experts just as recently as even last year, that the lessons learned over the last two decades of megaprograms is that there has not been the extensive upfront planning nor the inclusion of higher probabilities, recognizing that it is difficult to identify all the certainty of those probabilistic risks today when you're looking over a period of several years.  And that is why the megaprograms that are taking what I would call a more realistic view of having as much information as they reasonably can based on what is known at the time and modelling that from a probabilistic standpoint, that the financer of the megaprogram, whether that's a private entity, an investment bank, an owner, a commission, gives them a higher confidence of what they know an ultimate cost may be and they can then make better informed decisions knowing what that ultimate cost may be.

And that is why the higher confidence level has shown to be very good on the projects that are now coming in on schedule and on budget, for which more megaprojects that are doing this type of planning are panning out to be correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for that explanation, comprehensive explanation.

So when you say that the P90 is an appropriate, if not necessarily the only or the best choice, I take it you are opining from the perspective, first of all, of OPG if they want to make sure that they come in on schedule and -- on or under schedule and on or under budget, and a P90 plan is an appropriate way to make sure that happens.

DR. GALLOWAY:  I don't think that that is the only consideration in the way I looked at it.  I was asked to look at all of the pre-planning relative to other megaprograms.  And so I think I opined earlier that confidence levels are important not only for the entity building the project, but they are extremely also important to build confidence of some level of certainty or confidence of what costs may be at the end of a program.  This -- for instance, the example I used on Crossrail, it was extremely important for the government to, before it were to go out on a tax base and trying to obtain funds and to expend funds, to have a good confidence level that that would be the dollars that would be undertaken for that megaprogram.

And so it was not just for the entity building it, but also for the government in its confidence level.  So when I look at the reasonableness of a confidence level I try to look at it in the context of both, if you call it equations, both sides of the equation, as to whether the entity that has to either approve or finance that also has a good confidence that it will come in for those dollars in addition to the entity who's actually building it.

So I look at it from all stakeholder viewpoints in that regard.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Can we go to page 33 of your report, please, which is page 38 of the exhibit.  And I'm looking at the top of the page -- there we go -- which has the heading "cost treatment of megaprograms for regulatory purposes".  I want to look, starting at line 11, where you say:

"Given the net benefit to the program, it is both appropriate and reasonable to allocate all of the planning costs to the first unit, because that is the most cost-efficient way for the program to proceed."

So is that an opinion that you're providing to this Board about how they should set the payment amounts or the rates for OPG, or is it a project accounting opinion?

DR. GALLOWAY:  It's a -- it's not unusual for multi-unit plants in my experience of what I have actually seen to look at any costs that are necessary for the first unit to go into service to allocate those costs to the first unit.

MR. MONDROW:  And when you say, sorry, it's not unusual, it's not unusual for a regulatory commission?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Well, in a regulatory commission it would be -- this is my experience of what I have seen based on the other regulated utility projects in which I've been involved, is that, no, it is not unusual for any costs that are needed for a first unit to be allocated to that first unit.

From a cost accounting standpoint on a private project where you also may have multiple units -- for instance, you may have a combined cycle island project that will have multiple units to be executed over time from a cost accounting standpoint.  That owner may usually also -- will take all of the costs that are needed for the first unit and apply it to the first unit.  That's a non-regulated entity, but that's how cost accounting is also treated for those types of projects.

And so that's why I've made it here, because the flow on down from the other units get a benefit of those costs, and so the flow-down unit doesn't have to be, for instance -- take the combined cycle example I was given.  The financing costs won't be extended over long periods of years, because those costs are allocated upfront to the first unit.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go to page number 39 of the exhibit, which is page 34 of your report.  And I'm looking at the Q and A that starts at line 9 on that page, page 39 of the exhibit.  This is where you deal with the CWIP concept that you talked about a minute go, is that right?

DR. GALLOWAY:  It is; it is one aspect.  There are two aspects to the regulations that I spoke to earlier, and depending on the jurisdiction, because it does depend on the jurisdictions.  Some jurisdictions are approving the cost estimate and the reasonableness and prudence of that cost estimate with costs to come in later.

Others are approving the cost of the estimate and allowing for construction work in progress to go into rates at the same time.  So it applies to both of those applications.

MR. MONDROW:  The CWIP mechanism developed initially by FERC, as I understand it, was to, as you say, remove barriers to investment in large and expensive projects.  Is that your understanding?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Two aspects; that is one of them.  The other one is the financing cost, the AFUDC allowance for funds used during construction.  There would be less dollars that would flow to a ratepayer to have to pay if the CWIP costs were allowed to go in sooner, because there will be less financing cost over the term of the project.

MR. MONDROW:  Is it your understanding that OPG is asking for that treatment in this application?

DR. GALLOWAY:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  So why did you put in your report?

DR. GALLOWAY:  We were asked to comment on the regulatory environment in the States, and how it may have changed.  As I indicated, Mr. Roberts and I both seem to have been asked to do that in our scope, because he has a similar comment in his testimony as I do on mine.

And as I indicated, this is not just CWIP, but it's also the pre-approval of costs as reasonable and prudent, even if the costs come in at a later time.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If we can go to page 62 of the exhibit, please, which is page 57 of the report, and go down to the next question at line 12.

Dr. Galloway, reading the question and answer, do you believe it is reasonable to use the high confidence P90 schedule for execution of Unit 2.  When you answered that question, were you talking about reasonable from OPG's perspective?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I think I just answered that question.  I said I looked at it from the perspective of from OPG and other stakeholders and in my opinion, it was reasonable for OPG to establish a P90 confidence level in the context of all of the stakeholders needing a high confidence that the project will come in within its estimated cost and schedule.

MR. MONDROW:  I apologize if I'm repeating myself, and I may be.  But are you opining that it's reasonable for this Board to adopt the P90 contingency for the purposes of setting payment amounts and rates?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I believe it's up to the Board to accept whatever it accepts, based on the evidence.  I found it is reasonable for OPG to have established a P90 confidence level based on all the reasons I've so stated.

MR. MONDROW:  For the purposes of managing the project, as opposed to for the purposes of setting rates.  You're not opining on the setting of rates.  You're opining on management of the project, right?

DR. GALLOWAY:  I have not been asked to opine on setting rates.

MR. MONDROW:  I am not faulting you for that; I am just clarifying.  I think we're in agreement that you're not opining on the setting of rates.

DR. GALLOWAY:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, Dr. Galloway.  Those are all the questions I have.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Stephenson, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good afternoon, Ms. Galloway.  My name is Richard Stephenson, and I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

I have your report and I noticed -- we received an update from OPG in February, where there was a refiling and an update to some aspect of your report.  And I was looking through it, and I saw there was one correction on one page, but that's all I saw.  Am I right about that?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes, it was a typo relative to the level of contingency for Class III estimate.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So that's -- you didn't do an overall re-look, refresh, update yourself on any new information, other than to fix that one issue, is that correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Correct.  It was again just a typo on the Class III estimate.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So there's really just one issue that I want to touch base with you on.  And it's -- you spoke about this in your evidence in-chief to a degree.  It's the staffing issue and the distinction between the comments made in the Schiff Hardin report with respect to that issue and the analysis and comments that you made in your report.

First off, your report obviously is based upon a point in time analysis ending in July of 2016, correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And at that point in time, obviously I take it you had an understanding and expectation that as this project developed, it would -- OPG had a lot of things it had to do to effectively implement the project, including managing staffing, correct?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in terms of the assessment that you made at that point in time, what if anything can we take from the information that we now have and you may not have about events that happened after that, after you conducted your assessment?  What can we take about, I guess, OPG's readiness on this issue measured at July of 2016?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Based on the evidence at that point in time -- and I will make a very distinction that I have not looked at anything post July of 2016, so my comments are based on what I saw at that point in time.

The plans for staffing were reasonable.  The plans to retain and look for personnel to fill staffing positions was reasonable.  Relative to the staffing not being quite up to plan at the time was a matter of discussion during the interviews and with personnel relative to the building of their teams, the qualifications of those individuals that they were both hiring and looking to hire, and their plans to bring on more personnel.

That is what we evaluated, the approach that they would take to reach those staffing levels, including the discussions at the time were if we can't find the right individuals at the time, we may outsource that to other external companies to fill those stop gaps until such time that staffing can be fulfilled.

So those were the types of discussions.  We found the approach, the planning and those alternatives to ensure that they would have the right staffing in place at the right time to do what they needed to be reasonable.  And we also did not find the staffing levels at the time of this review were unreasonable, and, in fact, were what we would expect to find at that point in time in the Darlington project.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And this issue about staffing, this is not an issue unique to this particular project.  This is something which is part of any of these long -- large in size and long in duration projects.  It's an intrinsic aspect of virtually all of them, isn't it?  That's fair?

DR. GALLOWAY:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just to be clear, so you did as a part of your analysis satisfy yourself with respect to their recruitment plans; is that right?

DR. GALLOWAY:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And their -- lack of a better word -- retention plans, how they were going to keep people around for the duration of the plan.

DR. GALLOWAY:  Correct.  That was a big element of the evaluation, including discussions relative to the work planning that was done relative to schedules and hours and the concern that there would not be burnout of, quote, of personnel, and that was -- it was a very important aspect to the team's planning to ensure that they provided a quality work environment and a place that people would want to stay for the term of the program.

So all of that went into consideration of how we looked at the staffing plans and the staffing levels and the approach to bringing in and retaining people going forward.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Mr. Richler, I don't know how long you're planning to cross-examine.  We would like to finish around 4:30 today, so I don't know if you want to get started or if you prefer to start tomorrow, get halfway through.

MR. RICHLER:  I'm really in your hands, Madam Chair.  I won't be able to finish by 4:30, I don't think, so perhaps if it's all the same to the Board I would just start tomorrow morning.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  That's fine.  So we will start tomorrow morning at 9:30 with Mr. Richler to start.

Are there any other issues we need to deal with before the end of the day?  No?

MR. KEIZER:  No, not from --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then we're adjourned until tomorrow.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:12 p.m.
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